
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 5 July 2021.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

Tuesday, 13 July 2021 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Cabinet 
Members: 

 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance 
 

Agenda 
 

1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence  
   

2.   Minutes of the meeting held on 15 June 2021 (Pages 3 - 6) 
   

3.   Disclosure of Interests (if any)  
   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Key 

 
4.   Outturn Position Report 2020/21 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and the 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Property.  
 

(Notice is hereby provided that this item has not been included on the 

Forward Plan and is being considered in accordance with the General 

Exception Rule under Article 17, paragraph 17.7.2 c) of the Council’s 

Constitution as it cannot reasonably be deferred to the next meeting of 

Cabinet) 

(Pages 7 - 47) 

Cabinet 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Non-Key 

 
5.   Choice Based Lettings Scheme Consultation 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property. 
(Pages 49 - 75) 

   
 Items for information 

 
6.   Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers (Pages 77 - 84) 

   
7.   Cabinet Forward Plan (Pages 85 - 92) 

   
8.   Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees: 
 

   
a)  Housing Customer Feedback Policy 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property. 
 

Appendix 4 of this report is considered exempt under Section 
100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, should Members wish 
to discuss its contents the press and public may be excluded from 
the meeting during any listed items of business, on the grounds 
that if they were to be present, exempt information could be 
disclosed to them as defined in the paragraphs 1 and 2 of Schedule 
12A of the Act. 

(Pages 93 - 133) 

   



 

Minutes 
Cabinet 
Tuesday, 15 June 2021 

 
 

Council Chamber, South Kesteven House, 
St Peter’s Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 
The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-
Chairman) 
  
Cabinet Members present  
  
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance 
 
Officers 

 

Chief Executive (Karen Bradford) 
Deputy Chief Executive (Alan Robinson) 
Interim Director of Finance, Section 151 Officer (Richard Wyles) 
Director of Housing and Property (Andrew Cotton) 
Director of Growth and Culture (Nicola McCoy-Brown) 
Assistant Chief Executive (Ken Lyon) 
Monitoring Officer (Shahin Ismail) 
Head of Democratic Services (Graham Watts) 
Local Government Association Graduate (Alice Atkins) 
 

 
1. Apologies 

 
No apologies for absence had been received. 
 

2. Disclosure of Interests (if any) 
 
No interests were disclosed. 
 

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 18 May 2021 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 18 May 2021 were agreed as a correct record of 
the decisions taken. 
 

3

Agenda Item 2



It was noted that Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew had disclosed an interest in 
minute number 92 in her capacity as a private landlord and that she abstained from 
voting during the consideration of this item. It was agreed that this be reflected in the 
minutes as an amendment. 
 

4. Adoption of a Housing Service Fire Safety Management Plan 2021-2024 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property introduced the report which set out a 
proposed Fire Safety Management Plan for South Kesteven District Council. The 
document outlined the Authority’s arrangements for implementing, controlling, 
monitoring and reviewing fire safety standards, as well as ensuring that necessary 
standards were maintained as part of South Kesteven District Council’s health and 
safety responsibilities as a social landlord. A supplemental report was circulated 
which provided Cabinet with updated information in relation to equality and 
safeguarding implications. 
 
In answer to a number of questions, the following points of clarity were noted: 
 
- the document did not necessary focus on prevention and was more reactive. 

Education on the prevention of fire was made available to tenants in other 
documents, such as their Tenant Handbook, so proactive and preventative 
measures were already in place that were not necessarily reflected in the Fire 
Safety Management Plan; 

- premises information boxes were in the process of being installed and, where 
necessary, would include specific information regarding elements unique to 
individual buildings, such as the operation of lifts and the layout of the building; 

- a log of testing in relation to smoke and carbon monoxide alarms would be 
included in future schedules; 

- an audit of all properties was in the process of being undertaken, the 
programme for which should be complete by 30 June 2021. 

 
On being put to the vote, it was AGREED: 
 
1. To note the content of the report, and the Council’s statutory and regulatory 

obligations as detailed in the Fire Safety Management Plan. 
 
2. To approve the Fire Safety Management Plan 2021-2024. 
 
3. To require and delegate to the Director of Housing and Property to: 

 
-  undertake a detailed review of the Fire Safety Management Plan on an 

annual basis. 
-  make minor amendments to the Plan as needed by changes to legislation 

and regulation. 
-  provide regular reports on the implementation of the Fire Safety 

Management Plan to the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee through the Council’s usual governance arrangements. 

 
 
 

4



5. Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees 
 
No matters had been referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. 
 

6. Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 
 
No key or non-key decisions had been taken under delegated powers since the last 
meeting of Cabinet. 
 

7. Cabinet Forward Plan 
 
Cabinet noted the contents of its Forward Plan for the period 7 June 2021 to 30 June 
2022. 
 

8. Distribution of Monies Received by the Council Under a s106 Agreement and 
Grant of New Lease and Building Licence at Empingham Road Playing Fields, 
Stamford - Key Decision 
 
The Leader of the Council introduced the report which sought authorisation for the 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Property to provisionally allocate Section 106 
funding for the improvement of sporting facilities at Empingham Road Playing Fields 
and to enter into both a lease and building licence for the erection of a new 
clubhouse facility on the site. 
 
It was noted that there were references within the report and the agenda of exempt 
information relating to this item. It was confirmed that this item could be considered 
without requiring the exclusion of the public and press. 
 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council, reported that despite a previous 
affiliation with Stamford Endowed Schools he had not been personally involved in 
this proposal. He wished that this be noted. 
 
A question was raised as to what would happen if bidders were unable to raise the 
necessary funding. The allocation of funding would be supported through a range of 
other bids but it was acknowledged that some projects were very ambitious.  
 
Discussion ensued on the Bridge Club and whether it used the building the Rugby 
Club already had in place. It was understood that the Bridge Club had its own 
building which it used, located on the site. 
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED: 
 
1. To approve the allocation of the Section 106 funds as laid out in the report, 

together with necessary amendments to the general fund and capital and 
revenue budget frameworks. 

 
2. To recommend to Council that terms be agreed for the Council to enter into a 

building licence and lease with Stamford Rugby Club. 

5



 
3. To note that allocation of the Section 106 funding be subject to the recipients 

meeting the funding criteria laid out in Appendix A of the report. 
 
4. To delegate authority to the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property, in 

consultation with the Director of Housing and Property, to allocate the Section 
106 funding and enter into the building licence and lease. 

 
9. Exclusion of Public and Press 

 
It was proposed, seconded and agreed to exclude the public and press from the 
meeting, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the  Local Government Act 1972 
during consideration of the following item of business because of the likelihood that 
otherwise exempt information, as described in paragraph 3 of the Act, would be 
disclosed to them. 
 

10. Proposed Sale of Land at Stamford Cattle Market - Key Decision 
 
The Leader of the Council introduced the exempt report which sought authorisation 
from Cabinet to dispose of a Council asset in Stamford. 
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED: 
 
1. To approve disposal of the Council asset, as set out in the exempt report. 
 
2. To give delegated approval to the Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer, in 

consultation with the Leader of the Council, to dispose of the Council’s asset 
subject to internal governance being satisfied. 

 
11. Close of the Meeting 

 
The meeting closed at 14:28. 
 

6



 

 

Report Author 

Claire Morgan, Senior Accountant 

 
01476 406051 

 claire.morgan@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 28 June 2021  

Approved by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 28 June 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Resources.  Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet 
Member for Housing and Property 

29 June 2021  

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

Cabinet is asked to: 

1. Review and recommend to Governance and Audit Committee the provisional 
Revenue and Capital Outturn report and associated appendices for the financial 
year 2020/21. 

2. Review and recommend to Governance and Audit Committee the proposed 
reserve movements (sections 4 and 7). 

 

Cabinet 

13 July 2021 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes  

 Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources 
 
Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 

 

 

Outturn Position Report 2020/21 

This report provides Cabinet with details of the Council’s provisional outturn position for the 
financial year 2020/21. The report covers the following areas: 
 

- General Fund Revenue Budget 

- Housing Revenue Account Budget 

- Capital Programmes – General Fund and HRA  

7

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


3. Approve the budget carry forwards to be included into the 2021/22 budget 
framework as set out at appendices D and H. 

4. Approve that the allocation of the COVID recovery reserve to be delegated to the 
Chief Executive and the S151 Officer in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8



 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1   This report provides Cabinet with the detail of the Council’s provisional outturn position 

for the financial year 2020/21. 

1.2   From a financial perspective, 2020/21 has been the most turbulent year for many years 

and one that has proved extremely challenging from both a member and officer 

perspective.  Almost immediately after the budget was approved by Council on 2 March 

2020, the country went into lockdown and subsequently the budget framework was 

facing a high degree of volatility and uncertainty that continued throughout the 

remainder of the financial year and into 2021/22. 

1.3 The Council responded in many ways including the formation of COVID-19 financial 

impact reports that tracked and monitored the situation throughout the year including 

updated narrative on the levels of Government support, the impact on the income of the 

Council, the impact on Business Rate and Council Tax collection and the necessary 

unforeseen expenditure that was being incurred. 

1.4 This work culminated in an amended budget being presented and approved by Council 

on 17 September 2020 which set out the budget allocations that required re-basing and 

showed in detail the full extent of the potential deficit the Council was potentially 

exposed to based on a range of scenarios and in the absence of mitigating actions 

being implemented.  The report also confirmed that the Council’s Budget stabilisation 

reserve may need to be utilised to meet any deficit that arises; this reserve was further 

bolstered by specific allocations to it as part of the Budget framework proposals for 

2021/22 that were approved by Council on 1 March 2021. 

1.5 This report attempts to capture all of the volatility that is referred to above in a manner 

that enables members to better understand the changes that have occurred, the nature 

and level of grants that have been allocated directly to the Council to support its 

financial stability and details of the grants that were administered by the Council for its 

residents and businesses throughout the year.  For clarity, the variance and 

explanatory information are based on the comparison between the amended budget 

and the outturn rather than the original budget that was set in March 2020. 

1.6 An overview of the provisional outturn is presented in the main report and there a 

number of supporting appendices that provide greater detail in respect of: 

- General Fund (GF) – Revenue, Capital and reserves 

- Housing Revenue Account (HRA) – Revenue, Capital and reserves 

1.7 In order to comply with International Financial Reporting Standards, a number of 

technical accounting entries are required to be made which can create significant 

variances. These entries are removed at table 4 to provide a more meaningful 

comparison.  The report ensures that, through explanation and presentation, the final 

account figures can be reconciled back to the budget set by the Council.  Table 1 

shows the overall summary outturn. 

 

 

 

 

 

9



Table 1 – 2020/21 Overall Provisional Summary 

Heading 2020/21  

Amended  Budget (not 
including proposed 

budget C/F  

£m 

2020/21  

Provisional 
Outturn 

 

 £m 

Commentary 

General Fund 
Revenue 
Account  

26.015 24.172 Details shown at 
section 2 and 
appendices A & B  

General Fund 
Capital 

3.638 2.230 Details shown at 
section 3 and appendix 
C 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 

(4.593) (6.290) Details shown at 
section 5 and appendix 
F  

HRA Capital 17.616 3.167 Details shown at 
section 6 and appendix 
G  

 

Salary Vacancy Factor 

1.8 The Council has a budgeted salary vacancy factor calculated at 3.0% of salary budgets 
to offset against in year vacant posts. The annual budgets are (£428k) for General 
Fund and (£136k) for HRA and these have been achieved in 2020/21. 
 
Carry Forwards 
 

1.9 Due to timing differences in grants and budgets being approved, it is proposed to carry 
specific budgets forward into 2021/22 to fund specific and previously approved projects 
and Cabinet is asked to review and approve these. The details are shown at Appendix 
D (General Fund) and Appendix H (HRA). 
 

1.10 Commentary and review of reserves are detailed at sections 4 (General Fund) and 7 
(HRA). Reserves statements are shown at Appendix E (General Fund) and Appendix I 
(HRA). 

2 Revenue Budget 2020/21 – General Fund  

2.1 The budget set by Budget Council on 2 March 2020 was £19.157m. However an 

amended budget was presented and approved on 17 September 2020 and therefore 

the budget framework was reset at that point.  Budgets have been amended as 

projects have commenced and these changes increased the 2020/21 budget to 

£26.015m. For the purposes of the outturn variance analysis, the budget carry forwards 

have been removed from this which reduces the budget for comparative purposes to 

£24.168m. 

 

 

 

10



Table 2 – General Fund Revenue Budget Amendments 

 

Date of 
Approval 

Revenue Budget amendment £’000 

  24,675 

August 2020 2019/20 Grants received 199 

August 2020 Maintenance Reserve 40 

August 2020 Government Re-organisation – Local Priorities Reserve 50 

August 2020 Regeneration Reserve 60 

September 
2020 

Leisure SK – Local Priorities Reserve 50 

October 2020 Leisure SK – Local Priorities Reserve 500 

October 2020 ICT Reserve 36 

October 2020 Maintenance Reserve 80 

October 2020 Climate Change Reserve 20 

October 2020 Leisure SK – Management Fee – Local Priorities Reserve 250 

December 
2020 

Maintenance Reserve 45 

December 
2020 

Invest to Save 10 

Total  26,015 

 

2.2 The forecast outturn position has been constantly monitored throughout the financial 

year.  The forecast adverse variance as at 31 December 2020 was projected at £320k. 

It can be confirmed that the outturn shows a balanced year end position reflecting the 

work Members and officers have jointly undertaken in ensuring that there is not an 

adverse position at the year end.  This places the Council in a positive position moving 

into the current financial year, which is particularly important given the challenges 

currently being experienced on the budget framework in 2021/22.  

2.3 The General Fund outturn position is shown in Table 3 and Appendix A provides a 

detailed breakdown of the funding of the revenue expenditure. Appendix B provides 

details of the variances per service area along with supporting information explaining 

the main variances.  The table confirms at line 6 (net cost of services) that a balanced 

position has been achieved after utilising an element of the Government support 

funding without the need to utilise its own resources, specifically the Budget 

stabilisation reserve.  The table confirms that there is a significant amount of 

Government funding that was received during the year (which is referenced at line 16).  

Of the allocated funding, £1.249m will not be required to be used to meet 2020/21 

costs and is therefore proposed to be allocated to a specific COVID recovery reserve in 

order to meet ongoing challenges during 2021/22 (and during the period in which 

further Government funding is not expected). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11



       Table 3 – General Revenue Outturn Position 

 

Description 

2020/21 
Amended 
Current 
Budget  

2020/21 
Current 
Budget 

(less 
proposed 
Budget 

C/F) 

2020/21  
Provisional 

Outturn  

Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget 

2020/21 
Outturn 
Variance 

 

 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % 

1 Commercial & Operations 9,664 9,246 9,816 570 6.2% 

2 Corporate 10,109 9,796 9,169 (627) (6.4%) 

3 Growth & Culture 6,718 6,359 6,167 (192) (3.0%) 

4 Housing & Property 2,090 1,333 1,612 279 20.9% 

5 HRA Recharge (2,566) (2,566) (2,592) (26) (1.0%) 

6 Net Cost of Service 26,015 24,168 24,172 4 - 

7 
Removal of Accounting 
Adjustments 

0 0 (2,467) (2,467) - 

8 
Removal of Additional 
Depreciation 

0 0 (684) (684) - 

9 Re-stated Net Cost of Service 26,015 24,168 21,021 (3,147) (13.0%) 

10 
Interest Payable and 
Receivable 

(107) (107) (148) (41)  

11 Minimum Revenue Provision 148 148 142 (6)   

12 Revenue Contribution to Capital 72 72 15 (57)  

13 Depreciation (4,114) (4,114) (4,114) 0   

14 Net Budget Requirement 22,014 20,167 16,916 (3,251)   

15 Funding (17,386) (17,386) (17,329) 57   

16 Covid-19 Specific funding  (1,675) (1,675) (1,793) (118)  

17 
Transfers to/(from) earmarked 
reserves 

(1,638) (513) 235 748   

18 
Proposed transfer to Covid 
Recovery Reserve 

0 0 1,249 1,249  

19 
Budget Carry Forwards from 
20/21 underspends 

0 722 722 0  

20 Net Budget (Surplus)/Deficit 1,315 1,315 0 (1,315)   

 

- Line 7 – removal of accounting entries, specifically:  

- IAS19 (employee pension) - the cost of providing employee benefits should be 
recognised in the period in which the benefit is earned by the employee, rather 
than when it is paid or payable.  

- Revenue Expenditure Financed from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) and 
REFCUS is capital expenditure, which is incurred on non-Council owed assets, 
for example, disabled facilities grants and the shop front grant scheme. 

- Capital grants received in year of £243k will fund specific capital schemes for the 
university fit out and electric charging points.  

 

 

 

 

12



These adjustments are detailed in table 4 below: 

 Table 4 – Removal of Accounting Adjustments 

Accounting 
Adjustments 

Commercial 
& 

Operations 
£’000 

Corporate 

£’000 

Growth & 
Culture 
£’000 

Housing & 
Property 
£’000 

Total 

£’000 

IAS 19 (1,123) 485 (359) (148) (1,145) 

REFCUS 362 0 88 0 450 

Revaluations (814) 0 0 (1,138) (1,952) 

Capital Grants 43 0 200 0 243 

Accumulated 
Absences 

(21) (29) (8) (5) (63) 

Additional 
Depreciation 

(216) (12) (420) (36) (684) 

Total (1,769) 444 (499) (1,327) (3,151) 

 

- Line 9 –shows the total net overall expenditure for the Council. 

- Line 10 – additional interest income has been earned through investment of 
increased cash balances and interest rate changes. No external borrowing was 
required in 2020/21 so no interest charges have been incurred.  

- Line 13 – in accordance with accounting requirements, depreciation is charged at 
the costs of services where relevant (lines 1-4) but then reversed out at line 13 to 
ensure there is not an impact on Council Tax and the General Fund.   

Once the accounting adjustments (line 7 of table 3) and the additional depreciation (line 
8 of table 3) have been removed from the Directorate, the ‘controllable’ variance can be 
identified (line 9 of table 3).  

 

Table 5 – General Revenue Outturn Position excluding accounting adjustments 

Description 

2020/21 
Amended 
Current 
Budget  

2020/21 
Current 
Budget 

(less 
proposed 

Budget 
C/F) 

2020/21 
Provisional 

Outturn  

Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget 

2020/21 
Outturn 
Variance 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % 

Commercial & Operations 9,664 9,246 8,047 (1,199) (13.0%) 

Corporate 10,109 9,796 9,612 (184) (1.9%) 

Growth & Culture 6,718 6,359 5,669 (690) (10.8%) 

Housing & Property 2,090 1,333 285 (1,048) (78.6%) 

HRA Recharge (2,566) (2,566) (2,592) (26) (1.0%) 

Net Cost of Service 26,015 24,168 21,021 (3,147) (13.0%) 

 

2.5 Appendix B provides further details of the outturn revenue position for each Directorate 

along with variance comments. 

2.6 During the year 2020/21 there have been a high number of grants that have been 

awarded to the Council in order to serve a number of objectives ranging from 

supporting local businesses, communities, residents and also to provide specific 

financial support to the Council for reimbursement of lost income and supporting the 

13



financial recovery of the culture and leisure services.  These are summarised below in 

table 6: 

Table 6 - Specific Covid Grants 2020/21 

Name of Grant Amount 
Awarded 
2020/21 
£’000 

Re-opening High Streets Safely 126 

Covid Compliance and Enforcement (Covid Marshalls) 55 

LCC Covid Outbreak Management (Test and Trace) 100 

Leisure Recovery 321 

Cultural Recovery 230 

Furlough scheme (Arts and Building Control) 331 

Business Grants awarded  42,145 

Winter Grant Scheme  8 

Tranches 1 – 4 Government support for Council  1,793 

Council Tax Hardship Grant 924 

Co-payment losses contribution 653 
 

2.7 The fees and charges (income) analysis below shows the variance between the outturn 

and the amended budget which demonstrates the difficulties experienced particularly with 

specific venues such as arts venues being closed throughout the year.  Members will be 

aware that the Government introduced an income loss compensation scheme which 

reimbursed the Council 75p for every £1 lost. This scheme enabled the Council to access 

approximately £653k to offset the income losses shown below. 

Table 7 – General fund Significant Income Streams

 
 

Significant Income (in 
order of Amended Budget) 

Original 
Budget 

Amended 
Current 
Budget 

 Provisional 
Outturn 

Outturn 
Variance 

Outturn 
Variance 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 % 

Green Waste Collection (1,112) (1,214) (1,269) (55) (5%) 

Development Management (1,154) (822) (935) (113) (14%) 

Licensing (294) (238) (252) (14) (6%) 

Stamford Car Parks (820) (231) (330) (99) (43%) 

Commercial Waste (367) (230) (274) (44) (19%) 

Investment Property (423) (227) (325) (98) (43%) 

Land Charges (233) (150) (183) (33) (22%) 

Grantham Car Parks (473) (136) (186) (50) (37%) 

Stamford Arts Centre (749) (103) (42) 61 59% 

Miscellaneous Property (114) (101) (64) 37 37% 

Stamford Market (173) (73) (86) (13) (18%) 

Guildhall Arts Centre (312) (44) (27) 17 39% 

Grantham Market (46) (20) (26) (6) (30%) 

Bourne Market (19) (7) (16) (9) (129%) 

TOTAL (6,289) (3,596) (4,015) (419) (12%) 

14



Chart 1 - Significant Income for 2020/21  

 

3 General Fund Capital Programme 2020/21 

3.1 The amended budget set by Council on 17 September 2020 for the 2020/21 General 

Fund Capital programme was £3.522m which was subsequently increased by the 

additional Disabled Facilities Grant of £116k as shown in table 8. 
 

Table 8 – General Fund Capital Budget 
 

Date of 
Approval 

Capital Budget amendment £’000 

17 September 
2020 

 3,522 

February 2021  Additional Disabled Facilities Grant 116 

Total  3,638 
 

3.2 Table 9 summarises the General Fund capital outturn position as at 31 March 2021. 

There is an underspend of £1.017m which includes an additional Disabled Facilities 

Grant award of £116k in February 2021, deferral of works to the re-surfacing of 

Welham car park and several property renovations which have been delayed during 

Covid-19 restrictions and will be completed in 2021/22. 

 

 

 

 

(1,350)(1,150)(950)(750)(550)(350)(150)50

Green Waste Collection

Development Management

Licensing

Stamford Car Parks

Commercial Waste

Investment Property

Land Charges

Grantham Car Parks

Stamford Arts Centre

Miscellaneous Property

Stamford Market

Guildhall Arts Centre

Grantham Market

Bourne Market

£'000

2020/21 Significant Income - Budget vs  Outturn

2020/21 Current Budget 2020/21 Outturn

15



 

Table 9 – General Fund Capital Outturn Position 
 

Heading 

2020/21 
Amended 
Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2020/21  
Amended 
Budget 

(less C/F 
approved 

by Council 
March 
2021)  
£’000 

2020/21 
Provisional 

Outturn 
 

£’000 

2020/21 
Outturn 
Variance 

 
£’000 

Commercial & Operations 1,963 2,116 1,557 (559) 

Corporate  55 55 19 (36) 

Growth & Culture 1,620 1,076 654 (422) 

Total Expenditure 3,638 3,247 2,230 (1,017) 

Financed By:     

Capital Grant and Contributions     

-  Disabled Facility Grant (976) (976) (614) (362) 

-  Historic England (100) (100) (15) (85) 

-  Electric Charging Points 0 0 (43) 43 

-  University Fit-Out 0 0 (97) 97 

Capital Reserve (755) (755) (758) 3 

Revenue Reserve Funding     

-  Shop Front Scheme (28) (28) (12) (16) 

-  Local priorities Reserve (431) (309) (242) (67) 

-  GLEP 0 0 (10) 10 

-  Regeneration (290) (290) (229) (61) 

-  ICT (55) (55) (6) (49) 

-  S106 (12) (12) 0 (12) 

Useable Capital Receipts (991) (722) (204) (518) 

Total Financing (3,638) (3,247) (2,230) (1,017) 

3.3 Details of the individual capital schemes included in each directorate are detailed at 

Appendix C including variance comments.  Additional General Fund capital budget 

carry forward requests are detailed in Appendix D and approval of these carry forward 

requests will allow approved schemes to be completed in 2021/22. 

4 General Fund Reserves 2020/21 

4.1 An integral element of the closedown procedure is to undertake a review of the usage 

and levels of the Council’s reserves and balances.  The financial statements reflect the 

proposed use of these and specific details of the significant balances and reserves are 

set out below and detailed at Appendix E.  A summary of the key observations and 

proposals are: 

- Maintenance reserve – top up proposed to a balance of £500k in order to provide 

funding for essential works that arise during the course of the year in respect of the 

Council’s property portfolio. 

- Budget stabilisation reserve – there has been no requirement to use any resources 

from the reserve as the Government COVID grants and proactive budget reductions 

have been sufficient to meet the cost pressures and income reductions that have 

been experienced during the year. 

- Proposal to create a COVID recovery reserve arising from the residual balance from 

the Government COVID grants to be specifically used to fund services (from both a 

16



cost or income loss perspective) that are continuing to experience difficulty in 

achieving budgeted levels during 2021/22 due to the ongoing impact of the 

pandemic.  The balance of this reserve will be £1.249m which wholly consists of 

currently unused Government COVID recovery grants.    

Discretionary Reserves £11.334m (lines 1-13) 

4.2 These reserves have been established to financially support the delivery of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan ambitions including both revenue and capital projects.  Lines 
1 to 13 set out the provisional balance on each reserve as at 31 March 2021 based on 
the specific requirements of the reserve use during the financial year.  Commentary is 
provided below on the main movements during the course of the year: 

- ICT investment – this reserve has been increased by a net £199k which is a 

combination of a previous approved top up and in-year reserve use to fund the agile roll-

out to staff and support the migration to Windows 365.  

- Commercial – there has been no use of the reserve during the year and Council 

approved a reduction to the reserve from 1 April 2021 to £250k in order to increase the 

balance to the Regeneration Reserve. 

- Local priorities reserve – this is the Council’s most significant reserve and as at 31 

March 2021 has an actual closing balance of £5.758m reducing to £4.269m after 

commitments have been taken into consideration.  During the year the Council received 

New Homes Bonus receipt of £1.8m which was credited to the reserve and the reserve 

was used to make the contributions to pay Leisure SK management fee. 

- Housing Delivery – this reserve is used to continue to respond to on-going demands for 

supporting residents adapt their properties to meet their specific requirements.  A 

transfer of £362k was made to the reserve at year end. 

- Regeneration reserve – this reserve is currently being used to fund the current holding 

and development costs of the St Martins Park site at Stamford.  The reduction in the 

reserve balance reflects the costs during 2020/21. 

Governance Reserves £5.139m (lines 14-21) 

4.3 These reserves are maintained to mitigate risk, satisfy statutory and grant awarding 
bodies’ requirements and support prudent financial management. 

 

4.4 The Insurance Reserve (line 14) - provides cover to meet unforeseen costs relating to 

insurance claims over and above the provisions made in year as part of managing the 
‘in house risk’ with an increased self-insured strategy.  The balance on this reserve is 
£272k.  
 

4.5 The Council holds two Pension Reserves (lines 15 and 16) - The former employees 
reserves funds the annual costs associated with these individuals.  The balance on 
these reserves totals £341k at 31 March 2021.  The current employees reserve has 
now been removed as pension costs for staff are budgeted at service cost level. 

 

4.6 Budget Stabilisation Reserve (line 17) - To ensure there is minimum financial disruption 

to the funding of the General Fund in respect of Business Rates income, the Council 

has established a reserve to smooth out fluctuations in year to year funding. This 

reserve has a balance of £2.843m as at 31 March 2021 and has been further increased 

by £1.123m for 2021/22. For the financial year 2020/21 there has been no requirement 

to use this reserve as overall costs have been kept within the amended budget 

framework. 

17



4.7 COVID Recovery reserve (line 18) – a proposal to create a specific reserve of £1.249m 

in order to meet ongoing fluctuations in budgets arising from the ongoing operating 

restrictions that are impacting on specific services of the Council. 

4.8 Special Expense Area reserves (SEA) (line 21) - £86k of the Grantham SEA reserve 

has been used to fund the Wyndham Park improvements, Christmas Lights in 

Grantham and the car park improvements at Queen Elizabeth Park.  This reserve has 

been replenished by £83k leaving a balance of £276k.  This is broken down as: 

- Bourne SEA £33k 

- Grantham SEA £110k 

- Langtoft SEA £2k 

- Stamford SEA £131k 

General Fund working balance £1.358m (line 24) 
 

4.9 The purpose of this working balance is to ensure there is sufficient financial resource 
available in order to meet unforeseen events during the course of the financial year.  
The proposed minimum balance is set at a level that reflects the financial risk the 
Council is currently exposed to. This objective is also being met from the Budget 
Stabilisation Reserve and therefore the two balances combined provide a robust 
financial cushion for the Council to access should there be further financial volatility. 
This is a provisional balance as further work is being undertaken to determine the final 
outturn with regard to the allocation of the additional S31 grants that was received 
during 2020/21 in connection with business rate relief.     

 
General Fund Capital Reserves £2.428m (line 29) 
 

4.10 LAMS reserve £18k (line 26) - The Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) is no 
longer in operation for all authorities; however, the Council continues to receive 
investment interest that is derived from the investment that was placed to support the 
scheme.  The remaining balance of £18k will be retained until six year after the final 
mortgage which was taken out in October 2016.  At the end of the investment period 
the balance will be reviewed in relation to the outstanding guarantee commitment and 
excess funds returned to balances.  
 

4.11 General Fund - Capital Reserve - £296k (line 27) -The General Fund capital reserve is 
used to assist with the funding of the capital programme.  It can be seen that the 
reserve is close to a zero balance which reflects the current Council objective of 
utilising its reserve to fund the capital programme in lieu of undertaking external 
borrowing.  However it is clear that the Council will imminently need to undertake 
borrowing as internal resources are depleted.  

4.12  Useable Capital Receipts Reserve £2.114m (line 28) -This reserve is one of the 
sources of funding the General Fund capital programme. During the year the Council 
has received very limited capital receipts and only arising from the sale of surplus 
vehicles.  If the Council is to continue to utilise internal resources to fund its capital 
ambitions, there will need to be a renewed emphasis on the generation of capital 
receipts from the sale of surplus assets.    

5 Revenue Budget 2020/21 – Housing Revenue Account 

5.1 The budget set by Council on 2 March 2020 was a surplus of £5.493m.  This surplus is 

used to provide funding for the external loan and to enable reserve levels to be 

maintained that subsequently fund the capital programme and service improvements.  

Table 10 details the amendments to the 2020/21 budget to a surplus of £4.593m. For 

18



the purposes of the outturn variance analysis, the budget carry forwards have been 

removed from this which reduces the budgeted surplus for comparative purposes to 

£6.313m, the actual surplus for the year is £6.290m. The surplus is fully utilised to fund 

future investment in stock growth and property maintenance.  Table 11 shows the HRA 

outturn position for 2020/21. 

Table 10 – Housing Revenue Account Budget Amendments 

Date of 
Approval 

Revenue Budget amendment £’000 

  (5,493) 

August 2020 2019/20 Budget Carry Forwards 120 

December 
2020 

Stock Condition Surveys 780 

Total   (4,593) 

 

       Table 11 – HRA Revenue Outturn Position 

Description 

2020/21 
Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2020/21 
Current 
Budget 

less 
proposed 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards 
£’000 

2020/21 
Provisional 

Outturn 
 

£’000 

Variance 
Budget 

 
£’000 

Income (25,637) (25,637) (25,106) 531 

Expenditure 18,519 16,799 16,611 (188) 

Net Cost of HRA Services (7,118) (8,838) (8,495) 343 

Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,778 2,778 2,530 (248) 

Interest and Investment Income (253) (253) (252) 1 

Investment Property Inc & Exp 0 0 (3) (3) 

Return on Pension Assets  0 0 270 270 

Net (Gain)/loss on sale of HRA Assets  0 0 (620) (620) 

Capital receipts pooling  0 0  768  768 

IAS19* 0 0 (488) (488) 

(Surplus)/Deficit for the year (4,593) (6,313) (6,290) 23 
 

 

5.2 Appendix F provides details of the HRA revenue outturn position together with 

significant variances. 

6 HRA Capital Programme 2020/21 

6.1 The budget set by Council on 17 September 2021 for 2020/21 HRA Capital Programme 

is £17.616m. Table 12 summarises the HRA capital outturn position as at 31 March 

2021.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

19



Table 12 – HRA Capital Outturn Position 

Capital Scheme 

2020/21 
Amended 
Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2020/21  
Amended 
Budget 

(less C/F 
approved 

by 
Council 
March 
2021)  
£’000 

2020/21 
Provisional 

Outturn 
 

£’000 

Variance to 
Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

Energy Efficiency Initiatives 1,900 1,445 786  (659)  

ICT 30 0 0 0 

Refurbishment & Improvement 15,540 14,577 2,221 (12,356) 

Repairs Vehicles 146 146 160 14 

Total Expenditure 17,616 16,168 3,167 (13,001) 

     

Financed By:     

HRA Capital Receipts Reserve (4,000) (3,650) (371) 3,279 

Loan Repayment Reserve (1,350) (1,350) 0 1,350 

Major Repairs Reserve (4,786) (3,718) (2,796) 922 

Property Development Reserve (7,450) (7,450) 0 7,450 

S106 (30) 0 0 0 

Total Financing (17,616) (16,168) (3,167) 13,001 
 

6.2 Appendix G provides a detailed table of the HRA capital programme outturn position 

together with significant variances. 

7 HRA Reserves 2020/21 

7.1 An integral element of the closedown procedure is to undertake a review of the usage 

and levels of the Council’s reserves and balances.  The financial statements reflect the 

proposed use of these and specific details of the significant balances and reserves are 

set out below and detailed at Appendix I. 

HRA Reserves £43.851m Line 11 

7.2 HRA working balance £2.335m (line 6) - This balance serves the same purpose as the 

General Fund working balance in that it is established to respond to unforeseen 

financial events that occur during the financial year.  The Council policy is to aim to 

keep the working balance at approximately 10% of the operating expenditure.  

Therefore it is necessary to add further resources to the reserve to increase the 

provisional balance as at 31 March 2021.   

7.3 Capital Receipts Reserve (HRA) £8.057m (line 8) - The Council has established a 

capital receipts reserve where the ‘Right to Buy’ sale receipts are allocated. During the 

year £1.935m receipts have been received with 29 right to buy sales (compared to 56 

RTB sales in 2019/20).   During the year £371k of the reserve has been used to 

contribute towards the financing of the capital programme and pooling payments of 

£767k have been made to Government.  This reserve will continue to be utilised to 

contribute to the provision of affordable housing and the provision of additional Council 

housing stock. 

7.4 Major Repairs Reserve (HRA) £17.901m (line 9) - This reserve has been increased by 

£6.404m in accordance with the HRA business plan and an annual allocation is a 

requirement in order to provide sustainable funding for the HRA capital programme.  In 

order to provide financing for the 2020/21 programme an allocation of £2.796m has 

20



been utilised.  This will continue to be the primary financing for the housing 

improvement elements of the Capital Programme. 

8 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and 

Scrutiny 

8.1 Quarterly budget monitoring and forecasting reports have been presented to Finance, 

Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

during 2020/21. These have updated Members on the estimated outturn position for the 

year.  These reports are referenced at the background papers section of this report. 

9 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

9.1 Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the Authority, as effective 

budget management is critical to ensuring financial resources are spent in line with the 

budget and are targeted towards the Council's priorities. Monitoring enables the early 

identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely corrective action. 

9.2 This report provides an overview of the provisional outturn financial position for the 

Council. 

10 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

10.1 The outturn report is presented to the Cabinet in order for it to consider and approve 

the budget carry forwards and in order for it to make specific recommendations to the 

Governance and Audit Committee. 

11 Financial Implications  

11.1 These are included in the report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

12 Legal and Governance Implications  

12.1 The terms of reference of the Governance and Audit Committee require the Committee to 

consider for approval the annual revenue and capital outturn report.   Cabinet is asked to 

approve the budget carry forwards as set out in the supporting appendices. 

Legal Implications reviewed by:  

13 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

13.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising as a result of this report. 

14 Risk and Mitigation 

14.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks have been 

identified. 

15 Community Safety Implications  

15.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report. 

16 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

16.1 The report has a neutral carbon impact. 

17 Background Papers 

17.1 Determination of Budget 2020/21 and indicative budgets to 2022/23 – General Fund, 

Housing Revenue Account and associated Capital Programmes Report  

21



http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25022/Council%20Budget%20Re

port.pdf 

17.2 Finance Impact Report – May 2020 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25630/FinanceImpactReportP1.pdf 

17.3 Finance Impact Report – June 2020 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s26128/Financial%20Impact%20Report.pdf 

17.4 Finance Impact and Budget Monitoring Report – July 2020 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s26634/Finance%20Update%20Report.pdf 

17.5 Finance Update Report – April 2020 – July 2020 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s27516/Budget%20Monitoring%20Report%20

2020-21.pdf 

17.6 Amended Budget Proposals 2020/21 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s27458/Amended%20budget%20prop

osals%20202021%20report.pdf 

17.7 Finance Update Report – April 2020 – September 2020 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s28172/Qtr2%20Finance%20Update.pdf 

17.8 Finance Update Report – April 2020 – December 2020 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29139/FEDCO%20Qtr3%20Finan

ce%20Update.pdf 

18 Appendices 

18.1 Appendix A – 2020/21 General Fund Revenue Summary - Outturn  

18.2 Appendix B – 2020/21 General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis  

18.3 Appendix C – 2020/21 General Fund Capital Programme – Outturn  

18.4 Appendix D – 2020/21 Budget Carry Forwards General Fund Revenue & Capital 

18.5 Appendix E – 2020/21 General Fund Reserves Statement 

18.6 Appendix F – 2020/21 HRA Revenue Summary - Outturn and Significant Variance 

Analysis 

18.7 Appendix G – 2020/21 HRA Capital Programme – Outturn  

18.8 Appendix H – 2020/21 Budget Carry Forwards HRA Revenue & Capital 

18.9 Appendix I – 2020/21 HRA Reserves Statement  

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not required 

Previously Considered by: n/a  Not applicable 

Final Decision date   21 July 2021 

 

22

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25022/Council%20Budget%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25022/Council%20Budget%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25630/FinanceImpactReportP1.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s26128/Financial%20Impact%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s26634/Finance%20Update%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s27516/Budget%20Monitoring%20Report%202020-21.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s27516/Budget%20Monitoring%20Report%202020-21.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s27458/Amended%20budget%20proposals%20202021%20report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s27458/Amended%20budget%20proposals%20202021%20report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s28172/Qtr2%20Finance%20Update.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29139/FEDCO%20Qtr3%20Finance%20Update.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29139/FEDCO%20Qtr3%20Finance%20Update.pdf


Appendix A 

2020/21 General Fund Revenue Summary  
 

Description 

2020/21 
Amended 
Budget 

2020/21 
Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

2020/21 
Provisional 

Outturn 

Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget  

2020/21 
Outturn 
Variance 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % 

Commercial & 
Operations 

9,664 9,246 9,816 570 6.2% 

Corporate 10,109 9,796 9,169 (627) (6.4%) 

Growth & Culture 6,718 6,359 6,167 (192) (3.0%) 

Housing & Property 2,090 1,333 1,612 279 20.9% 

HRA Recharge (2,566) (2,566) (2,592) (26) (1.0%) 

Net Cost of Service 26,015 24,168 24,172 4 - 

Removal of Accounting 
Adjustments 

0 0 (2,467) (2,467) - 

Removal of Additional 
Depreciation 

0 0 (684) (684) - 

Re-Stated Net Cost of 
Service 

26,015 24,168 21,021 (3,147) (13.0%) 

Interest Payable and 
Receivable 

(107) (107) (148) (41)  

Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

148 148 142 (6)   

Revenue Contribution to 
Capital 

72 72 15 (57)  

Depreciation (4,114) (4,114) (4,114) 0   

Net Budget 
Requirement 

22,014 20,167 16,916 (3,251)   

Funding and Resources:         

Council Tax (7,840) (7,840) (7,840) 0   

Retained Business 
Rates (S31 Grant, 
Pooling Gain, 
Renewable energy) 

(4,954) (4,954) (4,954) 0   

New Homes Bonus (1,814) (1,814) (1,814) 0   

Rural Grant (295) (295) (295) 0   

Collection Fund 
(Surplus)/Deficit 

(957) (957) (957) 0   

Covid-19 Specific 
funding 

(126) (126) (816) (690)  

Co-payment losses 
contribution 

(1,400) (1,400) (653) 747  

Total Funding (17,386) (17,386) (17,329) 57   

Covid-19 Specific 
funding not allocated 

(1,675) (1,675) (1,793) (118)  

Transfers to/(from) 
earmarked reserves 

(1,638) (513) 235 748   

23



 

Proposed transfer to 
Covid Recovery 
Reserve 

0 0 1,249 1,249  

Budget Carry Forwards 
from 20/21 underspends 

0 722 722 0  

Net Budget 
(Surplus)/Deficit 

1,315 1,315 0 (1,315)   

 

24



Appendix B 
2020/21 General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis 

 

Commercial & Operations 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 
(less 

Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

Current 
Income 
Budget 

Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

2020/21 
Provisional 

Outturn (less 
Accounting 

Adjustments) 

Variance to 
Current 
Budget 

 

2020/21 
Outturn 

Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Building Control 805,239 (674,716) 130,523 43,423 (87,100) (66.7%) 

Commercial & 
Operations  

262,900 0  262,900 269,844 6,944 2.6% 

Community 
Resilience 

404,250 (100) 404,150 374,942 (29,208) (7.2%) 

Corporate 
Operations 

4,306,464 (919,676) 3,386,788 2,706,706 (680,082) (20.1%) 

Public Protection 1,094,600 (419,450) 675,150 551,627 (123,523) (18.3%) 

Street Scene 5,970,350 (1,583,600) 4,386,750 4,100,274 (286,476) (6.5%) 

Total 12,843,803 (3,597,542) 9,246,261 8,046,816 (1,199,445) (13.0%) 

 
 
 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Building Control 

The Building Control partnership income has recovered strongly following an initial 
negative impact during quarter 1 of the pandemic and has returned to budgeted levels.  
The initial reduced income for the period April to June was partly offset by Furlough 
and Job Retention Scheme grants of £33k. At the outturn the trading account has 
made a surplus of £25k which will be re-invested into the service in future years 

(87) 

Corporate Operations 

In-year lease of office space rental to third parties for their occupancy at the Council 
offices resulting in additional rent and service charge income of (£62k) 

Markets income was (£20k) higher than the reduced amended budgets as essential 
items traders continued during the year 

- Stamford (£14k) 
- Grantham (£6k) 

Business Rates- in year revaluations of the Market functions by the Valuation Office 
have resulted in a net refund of previous years’ charges (£21k) 

Crowdfunding – scheme has now ceased with an in year underspend of (£65k) 

 

Car parking ticket sales income from August 2020 to March 2021 were higher than the 

amended budgeted levels (£149k) despite the national changes in Covid-19 restrictions 

(overall for the year Grantham achieved approximately 28.9% of previous year income 

and Stamford achieved approximately 40.2%) 

(536) 

25



In year vacancy of Communities Officer has resulted in an underspend of (£24k). This 

post has now been recruited into 

Customer Services – In year customer services advisor vacancies and additional 

income received from Housing for call resourcing support (£53k) 

Open spaces & Closed Burial Grounds - there has been a reduction in responsive 

works required during the year (£36k) 

A grant was awarded during 20/21 to fund the re-opening of the High Street (£126k).  

To date £20k has been incurred that meets the strict criteria of the grant conditions 

Public Protection 

Two full time Environmental Health Officer posts were vacant during the year resulting 
in an underspend of (£39k). Recruitment is underway for these posts 

Income received arising from works undertaken in previous years - works in default 
and disabled adaptations (£20k) 

(59) 

Street Scene 

Additional income of (£46k) has been received for collection of bulky waste and the 
sale of wheelie bins for landlords and new developers in respect of new developments 

Vehicle Repairs - Cost of parts and consumables have been reduced in year due to 
the introduction of a stock management system and the previous capacity bid for 
increased prices has not been required resulting in a saving of (£40k) 

Green Waste Collection - Additional income of (£55k) has been received with 29,641 
households renewing their subscription for 2020/21 and 1,589 new households joining 
the service throughout the year.  94.1% of these households made their payment 
online with 70.5% paying by direct debit 

Commercial Waste - The service continues to grow with additional strong annual sales 
value achieved each month after the initial lockdown was lifted 

Fuel prices remained low during the year with the average price being lower than the 
budgeted assumed price.  This is resulted in an under spend of (£98k) 

(239) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26



Corporate 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 
(less 

Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

Current 
Income 
Budget 

Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

2020/21 
Provisional 

Outturn (less 
Accounting 

Adjustments) 

Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget 

 

2020/21 
Outturn 

Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Centralised & 
Business 
Support 

532,900 (3,200) 529,700 371,321 (158,379) (29.9%) 

Communications 325,610 (4,300) 321,310 349,740 28,430 8.8% 

Corporate 3,411,444 (98,550) 3,312,894 2,631,498 (681,396) (20.6%) 

Finance 2,054,781 (76,350) 1,978,431 1,997,856 19,425 1.0% 

Human 
Resources 

350,000 (4,200) 345,800 385,668 39,868 11.5% 

ICT Services 1,608,240 (97,200) 1,511,040 1,429,618 (81,422) (5.4%) 

Legal & 
Democratic 

1,582,800 (187,500) 1,395,300 1,199,207 (196,093) (14.1%) 

OD & Change 526,559 0 526,559 509,679 (16,880) (3.2%) 

Revenues & 
Benefits 

20,248,150 (20,373,420) (125,270) 737,671 862,941 688.9% 

TOTAL 30,640,484 (20,844,720) 9,795,764 9,612,258 (183,506) (1.9%) 

 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Centralised & Business Support 

A reduction of postage, printing and advertising requirements during the financial year 

has resulted in an in-year under spend of (£146k).  This underspend is a direct result 

of the changes to working practices that resulted in the majority of the workforce 

operating remotely 

(146) 
 
 
 

Corporate  

General reduction in anticipated expenditure across several different cost centres 

(£222k) 

Original budgeted procurement savings of £239k of which £40k included within the 

amended budget were not achieved due to the procurement programme being 

severely disrupted during Covid-19 and officers being reassigned to other priority 

during the year 

Senior team in year vacancies have resulted in underspends of (£80k) 

Completion of the agile rollout programme has resulted in under spends of (£40k) - 

offset by a reduced reserve movement 

New burdens grant monies of (£170k) have been received which are proposed to be 

moved to the newly created Covid Recovery reserve to aid additional works required in 

2021/22 

(472) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

27



Human Resources 

Additional costs have been incurred (£41k) due to the requirement to appoint external 

specialist recruitment consultants to support the implementation of the corporate 

restructure that was approved by Council in October 2020 

41 
 
 

ICT Services 

Changes to centralised licence and corporate licence fees have resulted in savings of 
(£86k) 

Reduced number of office printers and usage during 2020/21 has resulted in savings of 
(£22k).  This is a direct saving arising from staff not working from the main Council 
offices during the year 

Reduced level of income of £23k compared to budget arising from an external hosting 
agreement during 2020/21. This arrangement will be reviewed to ensure the Council is 
achieving value for money 

(85) 

Legal and Democratic 

Legal – In year vacancies and the required level of resource during Covid-19 through 

the Lincolnshire Legal Services partnership has resulted in an under spend of (£36k). 

The cost and volume of outsourced work continues to be assessed for the Lincolnshire 

Legal Services partnership 

Democratic & Elections – The majority of meetings have been held virtually during 

Covid-19 resulting in a saving of (£21k) on members travel expenses.  Members 

Allowances have been underspent by (£36k) due to one vacant ward during the year 

and the distributed allocations in accordance with the member allowance scheme.   

Changes to individual registration have resulted in a saving of (£10k) in casual staff 

costs for canvassing. In year vacancies within the service area have resulted in an 

under spend of (£22k) 

(125) 

OD & Change 

Transformation savings of £100k included within the amended budget have not been 

achieved in 2020/21. The programme is being re-assessed in 2021/22 

Reduced requirement and availability of training courses has resulted in an under 

spend of (£63k) 

 
37 

Revenues & Benefits 

During Covid-19, the focus has been the administration of grants payments so 

recovering overpayments for benefit payments made without entitlement has recouped 

£106k below the budgeted level 

There has been a reduction in income from court costs amounting to £240k during the 

pandemic period following the temporary suspension of all recovery processes for 

Council Tax and Business Rates. Court dates have resumed in 2021/22 

Additional DWP grant income (£77k) has been received in 2020/21 which will be 

utilised for service improvements in future years 

In year vacancies within the service area in anticipation of automated processes which 

have been delayed has resulted in under spend of (£94k) 

Covid grant payments of £739k for Council Tax hardship have been made during 

2020/21. These are funded by Section 31 grants received  

914 

 

28



Growth & Culture 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 
(less 

Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

Current 
Income 
Budget 

Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

2020/21 
Provisional 

Outturn (less 
Accounting 

Adjustments) 

Variance 
to Current 

Budget 

 

2020/21 
Outturn 

Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Arts & Culture 2,329,172 (266,357) 2,062,815 1,437,785 (625,030) (30.3%) 

Development & 
Policy 

1,539,471 (1,018,721) 520,750 555,746 34,996 6.7% 

Growth 
Management 

707,990 (148,225)  559,765 605,668 45,903 8.2% 

Invest SK 549,981 (10,069) 539,912 457,416 (82,496) (15.3%) 

Leisure 2,797,884 (122,150) 2,675,734 2,612,709 (63,025) (2.4%) 

Total 7,924,498 (1,565,522) 6,358,976 5,669,324 (689,652) (10.8%) 

 

 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Arts & Culture 

The Council were successful in securing Cultural Recovery grant of (£230k) for the 
Arts Centres. This was used to mitigate the losses of income during pandemic. A 
further application has been made for round 2 and the Council has been awarded 
£100k  

A number of employees were furloughed during the year and income has been 
received from the Job Retention Scheme for (£297k) to offset the costs £369k 

(527) 

Development & Policy 
The level of planning applications has increased this year resulting in income from 
fees and charges overachieving by (£120k). There were more major applications 
received against the amended budget.  Agency costs have only partly been funded 
by a number of vacant posts within the service area with a net cost of £93k 
overspend. These necessary costs were covered by the additional income above and 
permanent recruitment is being undertaken during 2021/22 
 

Conservation - There are ongoing expenses for scaffolding to support a conservation 
building within the district £17k. Agency staff covering vacant posts has resulted in an 
overspend of £22k. Recruitment is underway 

12 

Growth Management  
Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) Projects have predominately been revenue in 2020/21 
resulting in an overspend of £76k, mitigated by a reduction in contribution of grant 
required to fund capital expenditure 
 
Revenue works have now been completed on the university fit out space due to 
changing requirements resulting in an underspend of (£50) 
 
In year vacancies within the growth management team have resulted in an under 
spend of (£40k) 
 
 

(14) 

29



Invest SK 
Following a review of the funding levels to ISK for the current financial year, a 
proportion of uncommitted budget has been returned to the Council which has 
resulted in an underspend of (£110k) 

(110) 

 

Housing & Property 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 
(less 

Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

Current 
Income 
Budget 

Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

2020/21 
Provisional 

Outturn (less 
Accounting 

Adjustments) 

Variance to 
Current 
Budget 

 

2020/21 
Outturn 

Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Assets & 
Estates 

1,863,579 (854,000) 1,009,579 152,198 (857,381) (84.9%) 

Housing 1,296,252 (972,730) 323,522 132,947 (190,575) (58.9%) 

TOTAL 3,159,831 (1,826,730) 1,333,101 285,145 (1,047,956) (78.6%) 

 
 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

  

Assets & Estates 
Reduction in proposed alteration works to council offices in Grantham has resulted in 
an under spend of (£832k).  It is proposed to carry forward an element of this budget to 
enable works to be undertaken during 2021/22 
 
Commercial rental income invoiced has exceeded the amended budget by (£218k).  
However as at 31 March 2021, £47k remains outstanding 
 
There has been a requirement to increase the security arrangements  at a cost of £50k 
for the St Martins Park site in Stamford.  This additional cost will be met from the 
Regeneration Reserve 
 
Feasibility costs have been reduced by (£74k) due to a change of focus away from 
commercial investment and development opportunities. The approved reserve 
movement will also be reduced 

(1,074) 

Housing 

In-year vacancies of homeless prevention officers have resulted in under spends of 
(£40k). However this function is being supported by the Rough Sleeper initiative 

Cost of converting properties to homelessness accommodation during the pandemic 
has been lower than the expected amended budget provision by (£65k) 

(105) 

 

30



Appendix C 

General Fund Capital Programme Summary 2020/21  
 

Capital Scheme 

2020/21 
Amended 
Current   
Budget  

2020/21  
Amended 

Budget less 
C/F 

approved 
by Council 
March 2021 

2020/21 
Provisional 

Outturn 

2020/21 
Outturn  
Variance  

Variance comments 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  

Commercial & Operations  

CCTV Camera 
replacement 

12 12 0 (12) 
£6k has been incurred on this scheme but the cost has 
transferred to revenue as it is below the de minimis capital 
threshold of £10k 

Disabled Facilities Grant 976 976 614 (362) 

Applications for the use of the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 

are received via referrals from Lincolnshire County Council 

Occupational Therapy Team.  Funding is received from an 

annual Government grant and any unspent budget at the year 

end is transferred to a specific reserve in order to fund future 

demands.  Despite the impact of Covid19 which severely 

impacted on works in homes being undertaken, 111 grants 

were successfully completed in 2020/21 with a further 15 being 

approved in-year and which will be completed in 2021/22. 

Street Scene Vehicle 
Procurement 

145 88 89 1  

Trade Waste Bins 24 24 24 0  

31



Uffington Rd - Washdown 
Facilities 

12 12 0 (12) 
£9k has been incurred on this scheme but the cost has been 
transferred to revenue as below the de minimis of £10k 

Vehicle Replacement 
Programme (Freighters) 

655 655 680 25 
Programme delivered as planned. Costs increased due to price 
increases which was unavoidable in order to ensure all service 
requirements were met 

Wheelie Bin Replacements 100 100 78 (22) 
Delivery of the final order which was scheduled for 2020/21 
has been delayed until early 2021/22 so a budget carry forward 
is required 

Vehicle Electric Charging 
Points 

39 39 72 33 
The scheme has now been completed supported by an 
external  grant of £43k and therefore there will not be an 
overspend 

Welham Car Park - 
Resurfacing 

340 150 0 (150) 

Feasibility works have been completed in 2020/21 in order for 

the full scope of the works being agreed so a budget carry 

forward of £150k is proposed 

Welham Car Park - 
Security 

9 9 0 (9) 
£6k has been incurred on this scheme but transferred to 
revenue as below the de minimis of £10k 

Welham Car Park - Lift 50 50 0 (50) 
Feasibility works completed in 2020/21 are being reviewed 
prior to works being procured so a budget carry forward of 
£50k is proposed 

Market Stall Covers 1 1 0 (1) 
£1k has been incurred on this scheme but transferred to 
revenue as below the de minimis of £10k 

Corporate 

Digital Services 
Compliance 

55 55 6 (49) 
Final costs of the infrastructure implementation have been 
received and these are significantly less than budget estimate 
provided at the time 

Payment Receipting 
System 

0 0 13 13 
Final consultancy costs were confirmed after amended budgets 
had been approved 

Growth & Culture 

Bourne Corn Exchange - 
Renovations 

168 168 71 (97) 
A comprehensive scheme of improvement works has been 
undertaken utilising predominantly in-house resources 
including employees from the Corn Exchange. Significant 

32



savings have been made using local suppliers where possible. 
No carry forward of budget is required 

Heritage Action Zone - 
Grantham 

120 120 37 (83) 

The budgets for this project are split between capital and 
revenue depending upon the nature of the scheme.  For 
2020/21 the total budget was set at £190k and the outturn was 
£173k.  The underspend shown on this line has been charged 
to a revenue budget to align the costs correctly 

GAC - Renovations 175 110 4 (106) The scheme of works is scheduled to commence for 2021/22 

Meres LC - Lighting 10 10 0 (10) 
This project has been completed and the revenue spend of £9k 
has been charged to revenue spend as it is below the de 
minimis £10k 

SK Stadium Hammer Cage 12 12 11 (1)  

Stamford Arts Centre - 
Roof 

195 195 114 (81) 
Works on this project have commenced but has not been 
completed during 2020/21 and so a budget carry forward of 
£81k is proposed 

Shop Front Scheme 56 56 0 (56) 
No further applications have been approved for this specific 
scheme during Covid-19.  This scheme is now being funded 
from Heritage Action Zone funding  

Public Realm 15 15 15 0 
This is the final cost in relation to this scheme which 
commenced in 2018/19 

Meres LC - Boiler 29 0 0 0 
Review of the heating system has been undertaken and budget 
has been approved by Council as part of the annual Budget 
report 

Invest & Regeneration 290 290 248 (42) 

Conversion of the former ambulance station in Stamford into 
office accommodation is awaiting final costs and the demolition 
of police houses has been delayed until April so a budget carry 
forward of £42k is proposed 

Cycle Shelter & Changing 50 50 5 (45) 

A cycle shelter to replace the demolished facility is scheduled 
to be undertaken.  These works will commence in 2021/22 
once a new site location is agreed.  Therefore a £45k budget 
carry forward is proposed 

Stamford Arts Centre – 
Regeneration  

100 50 4 (46) 
There has been a delay to the commencement of the works so 
a budget carry forward of £46k is proposed 

33



Property Acquisition 0 0 6 6  

Turnpike Close, Grantham 
- Depot 

0 0 32 32 

Initial feasibility costs for the proposed depot site completed 
prior to the end of March.  This cost will be charged to the 
overall budget allocation approved by Council in November 
2020 

University Fit-Out 0 0 107 107 
Final scheme costs incurred which has been funded by a 
capital grant (LLEP funded) received in 2020/21 

Total 3,638 3,247 2,230 (1,017)  

 

34



Appendix D 

Budget Carry Forwards – General Fund Revenue 2020/21 
 

Project 

Proposed 
Budget 
Carry 

Forward 

£’000 

Funding Commentary 

Funding of Climate 
Change initiative 

50 Local Priorities 
Reserve £27k 

Climate change 
Reserve £20k 

Grant £3k 

Funding in order to continue to 
deliver initiatives as identified  

Funding of Leisure 
Management Fee 

125 Local Priorities 
Reserve 

Budget already approved to 
provide management fee to 
Leisure SK.  This carry forward 
covers the period to 30 June 
2021 

Funding of Leisure 
development 
programme  

80 Local Priorities 
Reserve 

Allocated funding to continue the 
establishment of Leisure SK   

Funding of Local 
government re-
organisation 

34 Local Priorities 
Reserve 

Request to carry over remaining 
budget  

Funding of Saint 
Martin’s Park master 
planning 

66 Local Priorities 
Reserve 

Request to carry over remaining 
budget in order to continue the 
progression of the project  

Funding of Advertising 
& Sponsorship 

20 Invest to Save 
Reserve 

Request to carry over remaining 
budget as the contract is 
expected to be in place during 
2021/22 

Funding of Waste 
Management system 
procurement 

35 Invest to Save 
Reserve 

Request to carry over remaining 
budget 

Funding of Maintenance 
of assets requirements 

46 Maintenance 
Reserve 

Approval already in place via a 
Non-key decision  

Funding of committed 
play area safer surfaces 

28 Maintenance 
Reserve 

Request to carry over remaining 
budget 

Funding of 
configuration, security 
and deployment of ICT 
systems 

110 ICT Reserve Request to carry over remaining 
budget 

Funding of Website 
procurement 

42 ICT Reserve Funding requested in order to 
proceed with the development of 
a replacement website  

Funding of the District 
local plan 

58 Specific 
Reserve £32k 

Request to carry over remaining 
budget 

35



Budget 
underspend 
2020/21 £26k 

Funding of 
homelessness and 
prevention 

58 FHSB Grant 
received in 
previous years 

Request to carry over remaining 
budget 

Funding of Food Waste 
service 

50 Grant received 
in 19/20 

Request to carry over remaining 
budget 

Funding of meeting 
rooms and office 
refurbishment 
programme   

332 To be funded 
from Collection 
Fund surplus 

This is the remaining balance of 
the approved £350k   

Funding of Festivals in 
2021/22 

46 Budget 
underspend 
2020/21 

Request to carry over remaining 
budget 

Funding of committed 
spend on Leisure 
improvement 
programme 

10 Budget 
underspend 
2020/21 

Request to carry over remaining 
budget 

Funding of ICT 
requirements in order to 
implement a hybrid 
working solution for 
staff  

72 Budget 
underspends 
2020/21 

Request to carry over remaining 
budget 

Funding of Community 
Fund applications 

125 Budget 
underspend 
2020/21 

£73k approved schemes 
payable in 2021/22 and £52k 
available for 2021/22  

Funding of Blue Green 
Corridor project 

111 Budget 
underspend 
2020/21 

Request to carry over remaining 
approved budget for the 
continuation of the project 

Sub Total 1,498   

Grants: 

- Garden 
Village 

- Rough 
Sleeper 

- Outbreak 
Management 

 

 
 

40 
 

255 
 

54 
 

 Grants & contributions received 
that are required to fund specific 
expenditure items in the 
2021/22. 

Total 1,847   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36



 
Financing Summary Table - Revenue 

 

Funding  £’000 

Grant funding 460 

ICT reserve 152 

Local Priorities Reserve 332 

Invest to save 55 

Maintenance Reserve 74 

Climate Change Reserve 20 

Specific Reserves 32 

Service underspends/ Collection fund 
surplus 

722 

Total 1,847 

 
 

Budget Carry Forwards – General Fund Capital 2020/21 
 

Project 

Budget 
Carry 

Forward 

£’000 

Funding 

Commentary 

Wheelie Bin Replacements 22 Capital Reserve  

Welham Car Park - 
Resurfacing 

150 Usable Capital 
Receipts 

Will this scheme 
be undertaken? 

Welham Car Park - Lift 50 Usable Capital 
Receipts 

Will this scheme 
be undertaken? 

Stamford Arts Centre - 
Roof 

81 Usable Capital 
Receipts 

 

Stamford Arts Centre - 
Regeneration 

46 Useable Capital 
Receipts 

The remaining 
carry forward of 

the approved 
£100k 

St Peter's Hill Development 
(Cycle Shelter) 

45 Local Priorities 
Reserves 

 

37



Invest & Regeneration 42 Regeneration 
Reserve 

Demolition of 
police houses 
and remaining 

works at the 
former 

ambulance 
station, Elm 

Street Stamford 

Total 436   

 

Financing Summary Table – Capital  
 

Funding  £’000 

Capital Reserve 22 

Useable Capital Receipts 45 

Local Priorities Reserve 42 

Regeneration Reserve 327 

Total 436 

 

38



APPENDIX E 

Reserves – General Fund 2020/21 

  

Description 

Actual 
Balance as 

at 31 
March 
2020 
£’000 

Provisional 
movement 

£’000 

Provisional 
Balance 

as at 
31 March 

2021 
£’000 

Reserve 
Use 

Committed 
2020/21 

 
£’000 

TOTAL 
 
 
 
 

£’000 

  Discretionary Reserves         

1 Climate Change 0 40 40 (20) 20 

2 Commercial 0 500 500 0 500 

3 Training and Development 15 0 15 0 15 

4 Street Scene 222 0 222 0 222 

5 ICT investment 177 199 376 (152) 224 

6 Economic Development & Growth 54 (22) 32 (32) 0 

7 Local Priorities Reserve 5,619 139 5,758 (1,489) 4,269 

8 Invest to Save 1,158 (142) 1,016 (55) 961 

9 Housing Delivery 1,106 362 1,468 0 1,468 

10 Property Maintenance 500 0 500 (74) 426 

11 Regeneration 1,847 (554) 1,293 (42) 1,251 

12 Food Waste 74 (24) 50 0 50 

13 Crowd Funding 64 0 64 0 64 

    10,836 498 11,334 (1,864) 9,470 

  Governance Reserves       

14 Insurance Reserve 309 (37) 272 0 272 

15 
Pensions Reserve - Former 
Employees 377 (36) 341 

 
0 

 
341 

16 
Pensions Reserve - Current 
Employees 58 (58) 0 

 
0 

 
0 

17 Budget Stabilisation 2,843 0 2,843 0 2,843 

18 Covid Recovery 0 1,249 1,249 0 1,249 

19 Building Control 33 25 58 0 58 

20 Football 3G Pitch 75 25 100 0 100 

21 Special Expense Area Reserve 211 65 276 0 276 

   3,906 1,233 5,139 0 5,139 

22 
Total General Revenue 
Reserves 14,742 1,731 16,473 

 
(1,864) 

 
14,609 

         

23 Government Grants Received 870 206 1,076 (277) 799 

         

24  Working Balance* 2,010 (652) 1,358 (63) 1,295 

25  Total Revenue Reserves 17,622 1,285 18,907 (2,204) 16,703 

         

 Capital Reserve       

26 LAMS Reserve 18 0 18 0 18 

27 General Fund Capital Reserve 1,054 (758) 296 (22) 274 

28 
Useable Capital Receipts 
Reserve 2,318 (204) 2,114 

 
(1,132) 

 
982 

29 Total Capital Reserves 3,390 (962) 2,428 (1,154) 1,274 

         

30 Total General Fund Reserves 21,012 323 21,335 (3,358) 17,977 

*this is an estimated position and will be finalised when the statement of accounts are 

produced 

39



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F 

 
 

Housing Revenue Account Summary 2020/21 

 

Description 

2020/21 
Current 
Budget 
£’000 

2020/21 
Current 
Budget 

(less 
proposed 
Budget 

C/F) 
£’000 

2020/21 
Provisional 

Outturn 
£’000 

2020/21 
Variance  
£’000 

Income         

Dwelling Rents (24,557) (24,557) (24,252) 305 

Non-Dwelling Rents (331) (331) (280) 51 

Charges for Services and Facilities (677) (677) (550) 127 

Other Income (72) (72) (24) 48 

Total Income (25,637) (25,637) (25,106) 531 

          

Expenditure       

Repairs and Maintenance  8,207    6,627  6,920 293 

Supervision and Management - General  1,931   1,931  2,116 185 

Supervision and Management - Special  1,223    1,083  1,038 (45) 

Depreciation and Impairment of Fixed 
Assets 

 3,609   3,609  3,700 91 

Debt Management Expenses  35   35  35 0 

Provision for bad debts  384   384  58 (326) 

Other Expenditure (Pension Deficit)**  322   322  0 (322) 

Housing Development  250   250  152 (98) 

Support recharge from General Fund  2,558   2,558  2,592 34 

Total Expenditure  18,519   16,799  16,611 (188) 
       

Net Cost of HRA Services (7,118) (8,838) (8,495) 343 

Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,778 2,778 2,530 (248) 

Interest and Investment Income (253) (253) (252) 1 

Investment Property Inc & Exp* 0 0 (3) (3) 

Return on Pension Assets * 0 0 270 270 

Net (Gain)/loss on sale of HRA Assets * 0 0 (620) (620) 

Capital receipts pooling * 0 0 768 768 

IAS19* 0 0 (488) (488) 

HRA (Surplus)/Deficit (4,593) (6,313) (6,290) 23 

*Accounting adjustment reversed out on the HRA balance 
** Costs in relation to pension deficit are charged at service level 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

41



Explanation of significant variances £’000 

Dwelling rents: 

Reduction in income of £125k as no new build properties are expected to be 
completed this year.  

Increase in write offs due to non-collection of rent of £58k.  The write off level is in 
line with the current bad debt provision level that is set in the HRA financial 
business plan. 

Void rates are higher than budgeted due to restrictions on moving residence 
during lockdown.  Currently at 2% (budgeted at 1.5%) resulting in a £110k shortfall 
in rents. 

 

 

293 

 

Non- Dwelling rents: 

Income for garages has been reduced by £25k as a result of higher than budgeted 
voids 

 

Rental income from HRA shops of £21k are removed within the movement on the 
HRA balance 

 

25 

 

 

21 

Charges for Services and Facilities: 

Due to the closure of the communal rooms within the sheltered accommodation 
properties during lockdown, charges to residents and room hire income has  
reduced by £142k. 

 

Creation of additional Homelessness units in order to comply with Covid-19 
requirements has provided an increase of service charges of £22k.  (These are 
partially offset by the increased charges in managing these units) 

 

 

142 

 

 

 

(22) 

Repairs & Maintenance: 
Pension costs of £448k for accounting entry IAS19 (employee pension) are 
included. These costs are removed within the movement on the HRA balance. 
 

Due to Covid-19, there has been a delay in repairs to council houses where 
access is necessary. 

 

448 

 

 

(190) 

Supervision & Management – General: 
Pension costs of £159k for accounting entry IAS19 (employee pension) are 
included. These costs are removed within the movement on the HRA balance. 
 

 

159 

Housing Delivery:  

Following the cessation of the HomesSK as of October 2020, no further costs 
were incurred resulting in an under spend of (£98k)  

 

 

(98) 

Bad Debts: 

Due to the suspension of recovery action including courts not sitting during 
2020/21, bad debts have not been at the budgeted level. Courts have resumed in 
2021/22.  

 

 

(326) 

 
 
 
 

42



Appendix G 

 
HRA Capital Programme Summary 2020/21  
 

Capital Scheme 

2020/21 
Amended 
Current   
Budget 

2020/21 
Amended 
Budget 
less C/F 

approved 
by 

Council 
March 
2021 

2020/21 
Provisional 

Outturn  

2020/21 
Variance  

 
 

Variance comments 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  

Central Heating and Ventilation 1,900 1,445 786 (659) 

Works restarted in July but further delayed with the 

additional Covid-19 restrictions. Communal scheme 

works on hold pending full review of the specific 

requirements – A budget carry forward of £455k 

has been requested and subsequently approved by 

Council as part of the annual Budget report 

CCTV – HRA 30 0 0 0  

Housing System 0 0 0 0  

Repairs Vehicles 146 146 160 14  

Tunstall System Upgrade 125 125 0 (125) 
Personal Alarm upgrade programme to commence 

in 2021/22 so a budget carry forward of £125k is 

proposed 

Communal Rooms 10 10 14 4  

Replacement Door Programme 80 62 58 (4)  

43



Housing Growth 12,800 12,450 472 (11,978) 

New contract works now due to commence in 

2021/22 - Full programme of delivery presented to 

Governance and Audit Committee in November 

2020. 

Kitchens & Bathrooms 1,000 555 464 (91) 

Works commenced in July but now delayed with 

the additional Covid-19 restrictions. A budget carry 

forward of £445k has been requested and 

subsequently approved by Council as part of the 

annual Budget report 

Roofing 1,200 1,200 1,182 (18)  

Electrical Rewires 225 75 26 (49) 
Scheme of planned works is to continue in 2021/22. 

A further budget carry forward of £49k is proposed 

Sewage Maintenance 100 100 5 (95) Costs for works significantly less than expected. 

Total 17,616 16,168 3,167 (13,001)  

 

44



Appendix H 

 
2020/21 Budget Carry Forwards – HRA Revenue 

 

Project 

Budget 
Carry 

Forward 

£’000 

Funding Commentary 

Funding of 
Communal rooms 
refurbishment 

140 Underspends 
2020/21 

Works put on hold in 
2020/21 due to Covid-
19. Refurbishments to 
recommence 2021/22 

Funding of 
compliance software 
procurement 

50 Underspends 
2020/21 

System software build 
commenced in Q4 
2020/21 with build 
continuing into Q1 & 
Q2  2021/22. Therefore 
only partial build 
invoiced for in 20/21 and 
carry forward required 
for remainder of budget 

Funding of Electrical 
testing and works 
procurement 

750 Underspends 
2020/21 

Approved by Cabinet 16 
March 2021 

Funding of Stock 
condition surveys 

780 HRA 
Improvement 
Reserve 

Approved by Cabinet 12 
January 2021  

Total 1,720   

 
2020/21 Budget Carry Forwards – HRA Capital 

 

Project Budget 
Carry 

Forward 

£’000 

Funding Commentary 

Tunstall System Upgrade 125 Major Repairs 
Reserve 

Works to be 
undertaken in 2021/22 

Electrical Rewires 49 Major Repairs 
Reserve 

The remaining carry 
forward of the 
approved £225k 

Total 174   

 
 
 

45



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX I 
Reserves – HRA 2020/21 
 

  

Description 

Actual 
Balance 
as at 31 
March 
2020 
£’000 

Provisional 
movement 

£’000 

Provisional 
Balance 

as at 
31 March 

2021 
£’000 

Reserve 
Use 
Committed 
2020-21 
 
£’000 

TOTAL 
 
 
 
 

£’000 

 Revenue Reserve          

1 
Service Specific Funds 
(Pension) 261 (261) 0 

 
0 

 
0 

2 
HRA Improvement 
Reserve 656 1,350 2,006 

(1,300) 706 

3 Loan Repayment Reserve 1,350 (1,350) 0 0 0 

4 
Property Development 
Reserve 14,722 (1,200) 13,522 

0 13,522 

5 
Residents Involvement 
Reserve 30 0 30 

0 30 

6 Working Balance* 1,560 775 2,335 0 2,335 

7 
Total HRA Revenue 
Reserves 18,579 (686) 17,893 

(1,300) 16,593 

 HRA Capital Reserve      

8 
HRA Capital Receipts 
Reserve 7,260 797 8,057 

(350) 7,707 

9 Major Repairs Reserve 14,293 3,608 17,901 (1,437) 16,464 

10 
Total HRA Capital 
Reserves 21,553 4,405 25,958 

(1,787) 24,171 

       

11 Total HRA Reserves 40,132 3,719 43,851 (3,087) 40,764 

 

*this is an estimated position and will be finalised when the statement of accounts 

are produced 

 

47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
13 July 2021 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 

           

 

Choice Based Lettings Scheme Consultation 

As the strategic housing authority and largest social landlord in the District, managing the 
allocation of social housing and the waiting list is a key function of the Council.  This report 
provides background on choice-based lettings schemes in advance of any consultation on a 
possible change of approach from direct lettings to a choice-based lettings scheme, and also 
provides information on future amendments to the Council’s existing Allocation Policy.   
 

Report Author 

Celia Bown, Senior Housing Policy and Strategy Officer 

 
 07900 270419 

  c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all the residents 

Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Helen Clarke, Head of Housing 16 April 2021 

Approved by: Andrew Cotton, Director for Housing and Property 27 June 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property  

30 June 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Cabinet notes the content of the report and the likely benefits of a Choice Based 
Lettings approach.  

2. Cabinet approves: 

a) The consultation with partners and housing register applicants, as detailed in 
the report, to support the review of the Council’s Allocation Policy and the 
introduction of a Choice Based Lettings process. 

49

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

b) The consultation materials, processes and timescale as suggested in and 
appended to the report, and delegates to the Director of Housing and Property 
authority to make minor amendments to the materials and process as needed.  

c) The submission of a future report with a revised Allocation Policy and Choice 
Based Lettings scheme, taking into account the Council’s statutory 
responsibilities and the consultation responses. 

50



 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The current approach to the letting of Council and other social housing register provider 

properties in the South Kesteven District is by “direct lettings”.  Properties are allocated to 

households based on the areas of the district they would like to live, and the type and size 

of property only.  Applicants are placed in one of six ‘housing bands’ ranging from 

‘Emergency Band’, which is for households in the highest housing need, to ‘Band 5’ for 

those in the lowest housing need.   

2 Main Considerations  

Choice Based Lettings  

2.1 In contrast to direct lettings, most local authorities have moved to a Choice-Based Lettings 

(CBL) approach.   Under this model, applicants still apply to go on a housing register, are 

assessed according to their housing need, and placed in priority bands, but the CBL 

approach allows applicants to “bid” for properties that meet their housing need.  Properties 

are advertised on a regular cycle with appropriate information (rent, heating type for 

example).  Following the closure of the bidding cycle, the property is then allocated to the 

applicant with the highest housing need and by date order band registration.   

2.2 This report sets out the necessary consultation exercise details, which are needed as part 

of the process of reviewing and progressing a more modern and engaged lettings system.  

This will allow prospective tenants the opportunity to proactively select properties which 

match their particular requirements. It will also eventually involve amendments to our 

existing Allocations Policy and the purchase of new computer software. The cost of this 

software is included as part of the overall Housing systems upgrade capital bid approved 

for 2021/22. 

2.3 Most local authorities use a choice-based lettings approach to letting properties and have 

done for many years.  The change would bring South Kesteven’s processes up to date, in 

line with other local authorities’ policy and practice arrangements. 

2.4 The table below provides a summary of the different approaches: 

Current lettings approach Proposed lettings approach 

Applicants have limited choice as 
properties are allocated to 
households based on the areas of the 
district they would like to live, and the 
type and size of property (e.g. a 3 
bedroom house) 

Households are allocated a specific 
property based on their choice from an 
advertised list of available properties 
online. 

The likelihood of a household 
refusing a property because it fails to 
meet their needs, increases. 

The likelihood of a household refusing a 
property decreases.  This is because the 
choice based approach to letting 
properties is more transparent, as 
vacant properties are advertised in a 
similar way to private rented properties, 
so applicants can view the properties 
online, showing photos and property 
details. 
 
The approach assists with managing 
applicant’s expectations, as they can 

51



 

 
 

see the number and type of properties in 
each area available for let, and the 
banding level required to qualify for the 
property. 

The rent loss, associated with longer 
void periods, also increases. 

Void periods and associated rent loss 
decrease because applicants have 
chosen the specific property and so less 
likely to refuse properties. 

Other problems, such as vandalism 
and environmental detriment to the 
local area, can also occur when 
properties are empty (void). 

Because properties are less likely to be 
empty, problems such as vandalism 
decreases. 

It is difficult for an applicant to know if 
and when they will match to a 
property suitable for their needs and 
they have to wait to see if they match 
to a property. 

Applicants can actively look and express 
an interest (known as ‘bidding’) for 
vacant properties, which are advertised 
online, rather than waiting to be offered 
a property. 

 

 Consultation  

2.5 Any significant change to the process of allocating properties, including the introduction of 

a new CBL system, needs proper consultation.      

2.6 It is proposed that the views of all partner social housing registered providers, any support 

workers and advocates we are aware of, and a sample of housing register applicants and 

tenants will be sought as part of this exercise.   

2.7 Emails will be sent to registered providers, support workers and advocates, and letters 

sent to housing register applicants and tenants, which will contain a South Kesteven 

District Council weblink to an online questionnaire.   The email will also have the 

questionnaire attached but will state that the preference will be for it to be completed 

online.    

2.8 The proposed questionnaires, which will be set up online and sent out, are appended for 

Cabinet’s consideration.  It is proposed that the consultation period is for four weeks.  

Allocations Policy  

2.9 It is noted that the Council’s current Allocation Policy is in need of slight amendment due 

to changes in legislation.  Naturally, there is in any case a relationship between the 

Allocations Policy and a CBL system, for example with the use of bandings for housing 

priority.   

2.10 It is proposed to change the number of bands in the Allocations Policy from six 

(emergency band and bands 1-5) to 3 or 4 bands, to make it clearer to understand.  The 

Council can consider the criteria for each band following feedback from the consultation 

process.  It would therefore seem appropriate for a full review of the Allocations Policy to 

be undertaken after the CBL consultation.   

3 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

3.1 The feedback received from the consultation will be considered in any proposed changes 

to the approach in the letting of properties and any proposed changes to the Allocations 

52



 

 
 

Policy.  The feedback will be summarised and presented when proposals are submitted to 

Cabinet for consideration.  

4 Available Options Considered 

4.1 Do nothing and continue with a direct lettings approach – this would result in the potential 

continuation of a higher level of property refusal; higher turnover of properties and 

dissatisfied tenants seeking early transfers to other registered providers, or identification of 

other housing options, resulting in unnecessary extra void periods and more unsettled 

communities. 

4.2 Change to a choice-based lettings approach – this provides applicants with choice on 

specific properties rather than just the type and size of property (e.g. flat/house, 2/3 

bedrooms etc) and area of the district.  By having a choice-based lettings approach, this 

mitigates to a large extent, issues of refusals of offers, which include increased void times 

and rental loss.  In addition to this, there is less administration involved, as the CBL 

software provides an automated shortlist of bidders.  Social housing registered providers 

will also be able to advertise their properties on the CBL system, which will reduce 

customer ‘search’ time for a suitable property and a ‘one stop shop’ environment for all 

registered applicants. 

4.3 There will be fewer hard to let properties because applicants can view which properties 

are available via photos and comprehensive descriptions, in the same way as an estate 

agent advertises. Hard to let properties can be made available to all bandings to bid, so 

that an applicant’s ‘want’ as opposed to ‘need’ is more of a primary factor, reducing the 

number of offers and of course overall void times. 

5 Preferred Option 

5.1 The preferred option is to have a CBL approach to lettings, subject to the consultation 

outcomes and a further report to Cabinet, to consider the outcome and comments of those 

consulted. 

6 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

6.1 To fulfil the Council’s obligation to consult effectively about a potential change to the way 

the Council allocates its vacant properties, from a direct letting approach, to one where 

applicants bid for suitable homes to meet their needs, through an automated bidding 

system known as Choice Based Lettings (CBL).   

7 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

7.1 The consultation process will commence during June 2021, using the consultative 

materials and methods outlined within the report, subject to Cabinet approval. Following 

the consultation process, Cabinet will receive a further report confirming the outcome of 

the consultation, to enable a decision to be made as to whether the CBL approach is to be 

adopted.  This further report will also outline the proposed ‘next steps’ for the 

implementation of a new CBL system, as well as the necessary arrangements to review 

and consult on certain allocation policy amendments.  

8 Financial Implications  

8.1 Council has approved the Housing system enhancements budget and the scope and 

implementation of the replacement system is being developed.  It is anticipated that the 

53



 

 
 

Choice Based Lettings module will form part of the scoping of the system.  The proposal 

set out in this report will support the scoping and development of the module.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

9 Legal and Governance Implications  

9.1 The questionnaires will need to be accompanied with sufficient information to allow 

meaningful responses and the consultation should ensure that all groups who need to be 

consulted are consulted, and this may mean using different consultation methods, to 

ensure the council complies with its legal obligations to consult all relevant groups. An 

equality impact assessment is to be welcomed, and will need to be considered before any 

changes are made to the current policy. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

10 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

10.1 An Equality and Impact Assessment (EIA) will be considered as part of any proposals to 

move to a CBL approach and any proposals to significantly amend the allocation policy. 

Any proposals for the latter, will be presented to the Rural and Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, to enable a more detailed element of scrutiny, prior to consideration 

by Cabinet and final adjustments to policy. 

11 Risk and Mitigation 

11.1 There is a clear risk (if we did not consult on these proposed changes) that any new 

approach to the allocation of homes through a CBL system would not be deemed as 

acceptable, and the Council may be requested to repeat the process through either legal 

or regulatory challenge.  

12 Community Safety Implications  

12.1 There are currently no known community safety concerns associated with the proposals 

recommended to cabinet in this report. 

12.2 The CBL approach to lettings allows for households to have greater choice in where they 

live and therefore, are less likely to move to an alternative property.  This creates more 

settled and sustainable communities, which has a positive impact on community safety. 

13 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

13.1 The consultation will utilise various methods, primarily online and by email, and is aimed at 

minimising the impact on the environment. 

14 Other Implications (where significant)  

14.1 None known currently. 

15 Background Papers 

15.1 None 

16 Appendices 

16.1 Appendix 1a – Survey for new tenants and housing register applicants 

16.2 Appendix 1b – Survey for support workers and advocates 

54



 

 
 

16.3 Appendix 1c – Survey for registered providers of social housing 

16.4 Appendix 1d – Covering letter for the survey  

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

1 February 2021 

Previously Considered by:  N/A 

Final Decision date   18 May 2021 

 

55



This page is intentionally left blank



Choice Based Lettings 2021 - New tenants and
Housing Register applicants

Introduction
South Kesteven District Council is consulting on a Choice Based Lettings approach to how we allocate our
properties and would like your views on how best to do this.  

What is Choice Based Lettings?
Under ‘Choice Based Lettings’ (CBL) applicants can actively look for vacant properties and express an interest
(known as ‘bidding’) rather than waiting to be offered a property.  The number and type of properties does not
change but applicants are considered for specific properties.  The property is allocated to the applicant with the
highest priority and who was registered to that housing band first.

If you could spare a few minutes of your time to complete this survey, it would be much appreciated.
Your feedback will help shape how this is introduced in South Kesteven.

Thank you.

Please note this consultation closes on xxxxx 2021

How does SKDC allocate homes at the moment?
Homes are currently allocated on housing need. Applicants are placed in ‘housing bands’ ranging from ‘Emergency
Band’ (for households in the highest housing need) to ‘Band 5’ (those in the lowest housing need).  Under the
current system, applicants have limited choice in the properties offered to them. 

Comments

1. Do you think the current approach we use to allocate properties gives applicants
adequate choice? 

Yes

No

1
57



How does Choice Based Lettings work?
Under this system of allocating homes, an applicant can express an interest (bid) for a specific property. Vacant
properties are advertised online in a similar way as private rented properties, showing photos and property details.

Comments

2. Do you think Choice Based Lettings will be a better and more transparent way to
allocate our properties? 

Yes

No

Comments

3. Bidding will be done through an online step by step procedure.  Do you have
access to a computer/laptop/tablet/mobile phone and are able to use online services
or would you require assistance to do this? Please tick all that apply. 

I would be able to do this myself

I would be able to ask family/friend to help

I would ask support worker/carer to help

I would need help from Customer Services:

2
58



Choice Based Lettings 2021 - New tenants and
Housing Register applicants

4. When you applied to go on the housing register, do you think you were given
enough information? 

Yes

No

Comments

5. We currently have six bands: the ‘Emergency Band’ for households in the highest
housing need and ‘Bands 1 – 5’, with ‘Band 5’ for those in the lowest housing need.  
 
Do you think the current banding system is easy to understand?  

Yes

No

We are reviewing the banding system and looking to replace it with a simpler, more user-friendly system. If the
Council changes to a Choice Based Lettings system, this will make it easier and clearer when bidding for a property.

 An example of an alternative system would be to replace the bands above with:

       Gold (Highest housing need): Combining Emergency Band and Band One
       Silver (Medium housing need): Combining Band Two and Three
       Bronze (Lowest housing need): Combining Band Four and Five

3
59



Comments

6. Would this kind of banding be easier to understand?  

Yes

No

We may remove the following categories from our allocations policy:

Applicants with a local connection to South Kesteven (eg. live, work or have family in the district) but no
housing need and want to move. This is to make sure that people with the highest housing need have priority -
for example homeless and overcrowded households.

Households with no local connection to South Kesteven (eg live, work or have family in the district). This is to
make sure that only people with a local connection to the district would receive housing (rather than, for
example, from a neighbouring area or a different part of the country).

Applicants with enough resources to secure alternative accommodation. For example, if they earn enough
income or have enough savings or assets to buy or rent housing. This is to make sure that housing is
allocated to people who cannot afford accommodation themselves.

Applicants interested in Shared Ownership only.  We do not allocate people to shared ownership properties
and so if an applicant is only interested in this, they do not need to be on the housing register.

Applicants who have refused two suitable properties.  This is to make sure that the only people on the housing
register are those who are in genuine need and are currently looking to move to a property.

7. Do you foresee any problems with this?  Please comment:  

4
60



Choice Based Lettings 2021 - New tenants and
Housing Register applicants

To ensure we have a representative response; we would be grateful if you could complete the monitoring form
below.  All information is confidential and anonymous.

8. Please tell us if you are a new tenant or an applicant on the Council's Housing
Register. Please tick one only. 

A new tenant

An applicant on the Council's Housing Register

9. Please tell us your postcode:  

10. Please tell us your gender:  

5
61



Choice Based Lettings 2021 - New tenants and
Housing Register applicants

11. Please tell us your age:  

12. Please tell us your ethnicity/nationality:  

13. Do you consider yourself to have a disability or long standing health issue?  

yes

no

Thank you for completing this survey.

 Please note the closing date for this consultation is xxxxx 2021      

6
62



 Choice Based Lettings 2021 - Support Workers and
Advocates

Introduction
South Kesteven District Council is looking to introduce a Choice Based Lettings approach to how we allocate our
properties and would like your views on how best to do this. 

We have sent this to you because we have you on our records as someone who may be a support worker or
advocate for one or more of our housing register applicants, or may be in the future.
 
If you could spare a few minutes of your time to complete this survey, it would be much appreciated.
Your feedback will help shape how this is introduced in South Kesteven.

Thank you.

Please note this consultation closes on xxxxx 2021

What is a Choice Based Lettings system?
We currently make offers of properties based on a housing applicant’s preferences, such as location and type of
property.  Under Choice Based Lettings, an applicant would ‘express an interest’ (‘bid’) for a specific vacant
property.  The applicant in the highest housing need band, registered into that band first, would receive the first
offer. 

Comments

1. Do you think this would be a better and more transparent way to allocate our
properties? 

Yes

No

1
63



We are reviewing the banding system and looking to replace it with a simpler, more user-friendly system. If the
Council changes to a Choice Based Lettings system, this will make it easier and clearer when bidding for a property.

 An example of an alternative system would be to replace the bands above with:

Gold (Highest housing need): Combining Emergency Band and Band One
Silver (Medium housing need): Combining Band Two and Three
Bronze (Lowest housing need): Combining Band Four and Five

Comments

2. Do you think this kind of banding would be easier to understand?  

Yes

No

2
64



 Choice Based Lettings 2021 - Support Workers and
Advocates

3. Bidding will be an online step by step procedure.  Can you support clients with
this? Please tick one only. 

Yes

No

Comments

Comments:

4. Do you have access to a phone, laptop or computer to assist and support people
who could not bid online themselves? 

Yes

No

5. How do you currently support people with online services?  

3
65



 Choice Based Lettings 2021 - Support Workers and
Advocates

We may remove the following categories from our allocations policy:

Applicants with a local connection to South Kesteven (eg. live, work or have family in the district) but no
housing need and want to move. This is to make sure that people with the highest housing need have priority,
for example, homeless and overcrowded households.

Households with no local connection to South Kesteven(eg. live, work or have family in the district). This is to
make sure that only people with a local connection to the District would receive housing.(rather than, for
example, from a neighbouring area or a different part of the country).
 
Applicants with enough resources to secure alternative accommodation. For example, if they earn enough
income or have enough savings or assets to buy or rent housing. This is to make sure that housing is
allocated to people who cannot afford accommodation themselves.

Applicants interested in Shared Ownership only.  We do not allocate people to shared ownership properties
and so if an applicant is only interested in this, they do not need to be on the housing register.

Applicants who have refused two suitable properties.  This is to make sure that the only people on the housing
register are those who are in genuine need and are currently looking to move to a property.

6. Do you foresee any problems with this?  Please comment:  

7. Any other comments 

4
66



Name  

Organisation  

Email Address  

Phone Number  

8. Please supply your contact details  

Thank you for completing this survey.

 Please note the closing date for this consultation is xxxxx 2021      

5
67



This page is intentionally left blank



69



70



71



72



73



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1d 

 

Housing Services   
    
Your ref:  Please ask for: Ken Linford  
Our ref: Choice Based Lettings  Direct line: 01476 40 60 80  
  Email HousingFB@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 
 
.The Resident 
. 
 
 

    
    

Date:  
 
Dear  
 

We are writing to you as part of a consultation we are carrying out on the 

introduction of a Choice Based Lettings Allocation Policy.  This will change 
the way in which we allocate our homes.  You have been chosen for this 

consultation because you are either: 
 

• on our Housing Register, waiting for a property to be allocated to you. 

• You have been allocated a property from us in the last twelve months. 
 

Why are we doing this? 

Our current allocations system is based on an applicant on the housing 

register being matched to suitable properties. This system does not give 
the applicant a choice of properties and subsequently results in a high 

number of refusals. 

Under a Choice Based Lettings Allocation Policy, all our vacant properties 

are advertised and applicants on the housing register are invited to ‘express 
an interest’ (bid) for those properties they are eligible for.  The successful 

bid is based on the applicant who matches the property based on their 

application and need the most.  This system results in fewer refusals 

because the applicant will only bid for properties they want. 

We would like your views on this change, either as an applicant waiting for 
an offer to be made or as a new tenant.  A short survey can be completed 

online via (an SKDC weblink will be inserted).  If you are unable to complete 
this online, we have attached a short questionnaire to give us your views 

Once completed, please email it to us at HousingFB@southkesteven.gov.uk  

(Please do not do both).   

If you do not have email, please return in the provided envelope. 

Should you wish to discuss this, please contact Ken Linford via the Council 

number 01476 406080 or email at HousingFB@southkesteven.gov.uk 
  
Yours sincerely 

 
Helen Clarke (Head of Housing Service) 

75

mailto:HousingFB@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:HousingFB@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
13 July 2021 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under delegated 
powers 
This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members since the last 
meeting of the Cabinet on 15 June 2021. 

 

Report Author 

Shelley Thirkell, Acting Principal Democratic Officer 

Tel: 01476 406156 

Email: shelley.thirkell@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Governance All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services 23 June 2021 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 05 July 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 05 July 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of this report. 

77

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
1.1 Since the Cabinet last met on 15 June 2021, the following Key and Non-Key decisions 

have been taken under delegated authority. 

1.2 Any decision made after the publication of the agenda will be reported at the next meeting 

of the Cabinet.  

2.  Management of Commercial Assets 

2.1 Non-Key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property on 8 June  

2021 

Date decision effective: 18 June 2021 

Report and decision notice attached at Appendix 1 and 2 

 

 

78



 

 

 

Non-key Decision 

 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Property 

  

         
  

 

Management of Commercial Assets 

Management of Commercial Assets 
 
This report is to seek approval to award the management of specific Council operated 
commercial assets to an external management agent. 

 

Report Author 

Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

 
01476 406210 

 r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Approved for 
publication: 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property 

8 June 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. The Cabinet member for Housing and Property is asked to approve the awarding of 
a contract to Banks Long & Co for a period of three years (with the option to extend 
by a further 2 years) in order to manage the Council’s commercial asset portfolio. 

79

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Purpose of the Report 

1.1 The contract is for the provision of Managing Agent Services for the day to day operations 

of the Council’s Commercial Portfolio. This scope of the contract is to cover the following 

core services: 

• Property Agency Services - including the marketing and letting of the commercial 
portfolio; and 

• Property Management Services - including the collection of monies from occupiers 
alongside the management and maintenance of the portfolio. 

1.2 The Council, working closely with Welland Procurement developed a detailed specification 

and set out a managed procurement process in order to invite prospective bidders that 

could show the necessary competency and professionalism in order to manage the 

Council’s diverse commercial portfolio. 

1.3 The market response was strong, highlighting a high degree of interest in working with the 

Council with 9 quality bids submitted. 

1.4 Final scoring of the submissions are as below: 

1.4.1 3.21 of Document One of this Tender stated “Potential suppliers should note that 

irrespective of the methodology described above, a quality score (i.e. total score 

for responses to written quality questions) of less than 60% of the total score 

available (100%) shall result in the elimination of their tender submission from this 

procurement process, as the Council requires a minimum quality threshold.”. 

1.4.2 3.23 of Document One of this Tender stated “If a tender submission is eliminated 

for any reason, the price submitted within the tender concerned shall also be 

excluded from the evaluation.”, therefore the pricing for those that did not meet the 

minimum threshold (60%) for the award criteria has not been evaluated 

Section Question 
Question 

Weighting 
Bid A Bid B Bid C Bid D Bid E Bid F Bid G Bid H Bid I 

Quality 

60% 

1 20.00% 14.00% 10.00% 10.00% 14.00% 12.00% 8.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 

2 8.33% 6.66% 3.33% 5.00% 5.00% 4.17% 3.33% 4.17% 3.33% 3.33% 

3 16.68% 11.68% 8.34% 11.68% 11.68% 10.01% 10.01% 8.34% 8.34% 8.34% 

4 8.33% 6.66% 4.17% 4.17% 5.00% 4.17% 5.00% 5.83% 3.33% 3.33% 

5 13.33% 10.66% 6.67% 8.00% 8.00% 6.67% 8.00% 8.00% 5.33% 6.67% 

6 16.67% 11.67% 6.67% 10.00% 13.34% 10.00% 10.00% 8.34% 8.34% 10.00% 

7 3.33% 2.33% 1.33% 1.67% 2.33% 2.00% 1.33% 1.67% 1.67% 1.67% 

8 3.33% 2.33% 1.67% 1.67% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 1.33% 1.67% 2.00% 

9 5.00% 4.00% 1.50% 3.00% 3.00% 2.50% 1.50% 2.50% 2.00% 2.00% 

10 5.00% 4.50% 2.50% 3.50% 3.00% 2.50% 2.50% 3.00% 2.50% 3.00% 

Total (100%) 74.50% 46.17%* 58.67%* 67.34% 56.00%* 51.67%* 53.17%* 46.50%* 50.33%* 

80



 

 
 

Quality Total (60%) 44.70% 27.70% 35.20% 40.40% 33.60% 31.00% 31.90% 27.90% 30.20% 

Price Total (40%) 38.44% NA NA 30.31% NA NA NA NA NA 

Grand Total 83.14% NA NA 70.71% NA NA NA NA NA 

*these bidders failed to achieve the required 60% quality score  

1.5 A careful scoring process was undertaken (overseen by Welland Procurement) and a 

successful bidder was identified.  This is Banks Long and Co (Bid A) who is based in 

Lincoln and have a strong record with working with local authorities in a similar 

commercial management capacity. 

1.6 The contract period is three years with an option to extend by two years. 

1.7 The cost to the Council is primarily driven by the levels of activity that will be undertaken 

by the contractor and the cost headings are set as: 

•  Management Fee 

•  Lease administration fee 

•  Lease renewal fee 

•  Service Charge administration fee 

1.8 Based on the assumed levels of activity the potential cost will be in the region of £60k per 

annum but is subject to fluctuation depending on the level of activity needed to manage 

the portfolio.  The commercial asset rent roll is in the region of £1.2m consisting of circa 70 

commercial assets.  

1.9 In order to manage the contract and ensure there is an effective partnering approach 

between the Council and the contractor, a management board will be established that will 

ensure the contract is being complied with and the following objectives are being 

achieved: 

• Maximising the financial returns for the assets 

• Tenant welfare and well being 

• Maintenance and upkeep of the Council’s assets 

• Stimulating and sustaining the local economic impact  

2 Available Options Considered 

2.1 The Council could continue to utilise in-house resources but it has been recognised that 

there is limited capacity and expertise to effectively manage such a varied commercial 

portfolio and there is an ongoing risk that the Council is not maximising the potential rental 

income and therefore not able to secure the maximum rental income. 

3 Preferred Option 

3.1 The preferred option is set out in the report.  There is currently limited capacity for the 

Council to manage the commercial portfolio and in some aspects of the necessary 

management, there is not the in-house expertise due to the specialist nature.  In addition, 

utilising an external organisation will enable the Council to gain access to a wider 

commercial market.   

 

81



 

 
 

4 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

4.1 These are set out in the report. 

5 Financial Implications  

5.1 The proposed cost to the Council is determined by the level of activity and the turnover of 

the portfolio during the contract period.  However the fee is proposed to be offset by the 

increased income the Council is expected to receive from an increase in the rental income 

the Council will achieve from both the securing of increased commercial rent and an 

increase in the occupancy rates of the portfolio. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance  

6 Legal and Governance Implications  

6.1 The report confirms that the Council has followed the EU procurement rules in managing 

this tender process which is also subject to compliance with the Council’s Contract and 

Procurement Procedure Rules and Financial Regulations.   

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

7 Equality and Safeguarding implications 

7.1 None 

8 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

8.1 N/a 

 

Report Timeline:  Date decision due to be made 8 June 2021 

Call-in deadline 18 June 2021 

Date decision effective (subject to call-in)  18 June 2021 

 

82



 

 

 

CABINET MEMBER DECISION 

                                                           
DECISION:    
 

The Cabinet member for Housing and Property is asked to approve the awarding of a 

contract to Banks Long & Co for a period of three years (with the option to extend by 

a further 2 years) in order to manage the Council’s commercial asset portfolio 

 
(1) Details of Decision 
 

Management of Commercial Assets.  

This report is to seek approval to award the management of specific Council 

operated commercial assets to an external management agent. 

 
(2) Considerations/Evidence 

 
 

The Council could continue to utilise in-house resources but it has been 

recognised that there is limited capacity and expertise to effectively manage 

such a varied commercial portfolio and there is an ongoing risk that the 

Council is not maximising the potential rental income and therefore not able 

to secure the maximum rental income. 

The preferred option is set out in the report.  There is currently limited 

capacity for the Council to manage the commercial portfolio and in some 

aspects of the necessary management, there is not the in-house expertise 

due to the specialist nature.  In addition, utilising an external organisation will 

enable the Council to gain access to a wider commercial market.   

(3) Reasons for Decision: 
 

 
These are set out in the report. 

 

83



 

 

 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded). 
 
None 
 
Dispensations 
 
(Any dispensation granted by the Standards Committee on respect of any 
declared conflict of interest to be noted). 
 
None 
 
Decision taken by: 
 
Name: Councillor Robert Reid 
Portfolio: Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
 
Date of Decision: 08 June 2021 
 
Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 10 June 2021 
 
Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Community DSP Chairman or any 5 
members of the Council from any political groups): 18 June 2021 

  
 

 
  

 

84



 

 

 

Cabinet 
13 July 2021 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 1 July 2021 to 30 
June 2022 

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan for the period 1 July 2021 to 30 June 
2022. 
 

Report Author 

Shelley Thirkell, Acting Principal Democratic Officer 

Tel: 01476 406156 

Email: shelley.thirkell@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Governance All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services 23 June 2021 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 05 July 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 05 July 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of this report. 

85

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

 
1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements for publicity in connection 

with Key Decisions. The Council meets these legislative requirements through the monthly 

publication of its Forward Plan. 

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make recommendations to 

Council or review the contents and take necessary action. These items are also listed on 

the Forward Plan. 

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, items for 

consideration during the preceding year have been included in the Cabinet’s Forward 

Plan. The Forward Plan also includes details of items scheduled for each of the Council 

meetings due to be held within the plan period. 

1.4 The Forward Plan for 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

86



 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 

 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make Key Decisions and Non-Key Decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
A Key Decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (for these purposes, South Kesteven 
District Council has agreed £200,000 as the threshold at which a decision will be considered significant); or 
 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A Non-Key Decision is one that is not a Key Decision. 
 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 

87



 
Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council  
 

Summary Date Action Contact 

Voids Policy - Key Decision 

The policy details South Kesteven District 
Councils approach to managing void 
properties 
 

13 July 
2021 
 

To approve the policy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Chris Stratford, Interim Assistant Director of 
Housing 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
E-mail: chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Housing Customer Feedback Policy - Key Decision 

A Housing Customer Feedback Policy, 
which sets out how the Council will manage 
complaints, compliments and comments. 
 

Not before 
13 July 
2021 
 

To approve the policy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Celia Bown, Senior Housing and Policy Strategy 
Officer 
E-mail: c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Housing Allocation Policy 2021 to include Choice Based Lettings - Key Decision 

To approve the choice-based lettings 
consultation process in order to provide 
supporting information that will be used to 
inform the development and implementation 
of the Choice Based Lettings system 
 

13 July 
2021 
 

To approve the consultation 
process 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Helen Clarke, Head of Housing 
E-mail: helen.clark@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

88



Summary Date Action Contact 

Proposals for Deepings Leisure Centre Development - presentation of feasibility work including options explored and operational 
business plans - Key Decision 

To agree the facility mix and associated 
capital envelope of the development to be 
taken forward to the next stage 

 

14 
September 
2021 
 

To approve proposals 
 

Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member 
for Leisure (Councillor Barry Dobson) 
 
Karen Whitfield, Head of Leisure 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 62 39 
E-mail: karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Rectory Farm - Development Brief - Key Decision 

To consider the Rectory Farm 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following consultation on a draft document 
 

14 
September 
2021 
 

To approve a Supplementary 
Planning Document in 
respect to Rectory Farm 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy 
(Councillor Nick Robins) 
 
Philip Moore, Special Projects Manager 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 61 64 
E-mail: p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document - Final - Key Decision 

To consider the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following public consultation 
 

14 
September 
2021 
 

To approve the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning 
Document 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy 
(Councillor Nick Robins) 
 
Jeff Upton, Interim Head of Planning 
E-mail: j.upton@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Housing Service Chargeable Repair Policy - Key Decision 

The purpose of the report is to seek 
approval for the adoption of a chargeable 
policy to be used across Housing Technical 
Services and Housing Services.  
 

14 
September 
2021 
 

To approve the Policy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Paul Crow, Interim Head of Housing Technical 
Services 
E-mail: paul.crow@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

89



Summary Date Action Contact 

Compensation Policy - Key Decision 

The purpose of the report is to seek 
approval for the adoption of a 
compensation policy to be used across 
Housing Technical Services and Housing 
Services.  
 

14 
September 
2021 
 

To approve the Policies 
adoption 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Head of Housing Technical Services 
E-mail: paul.crow@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North - Key Decision 

To consider the proposed development 
brief for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation 
 

Not before 
14 
September
2021 
 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy 
(Councillor Nick Robins) 
 
Jeff Upton, Interim Head of Planning 
E-mail: j.upton@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Housing Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 - Key Decision 

To consider the strategy 
 

November 
2021 
 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
management Strategy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Chris Stratford, Interim Assistant Director of 
Housing 
E-mail: chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Council Tax Base 2022/23 - Key Decision 

To determine the Council Tax base to form 
the basis of the 2022/23 budget proposals 
to be recommended to Council  
 

7 
December 
2021 
 

To agree the Council Tax 
base 2022/23 which will form 
the basis of the budget 
proposals for the year 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources 
(Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 

90



Summary Date Action Contact 

Draft Budget Proposals for 2022/23 - Key Decision 

To consider draft budget proposals for 
2022/23 
 

7 
December 
2021 
 

To agree draft budget 
proposals for 2022/23 for 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources 
(Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance, 
Section 151 Officer 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

91



92



 

 

 

Cabinet 

13 July 2021 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 

           

Housing Customer Feedback Policy  

The Council’s Corporate Plan set a clear priority in relation to Housing – that it should met the 
needs of residents.  As a social landlord, listening and acting on the views of our service users 
expressed as complaints, compliments and comments is a significant part of understanding those 
needs.  The proposed Housing Customer Feedback Policy sets out how the Housing Service will 
manage that feedback.  

 

Report Author 

Celia Bown, Senior Housing Policy and Strategy Officer 

 
07900 270419 

 c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Helen Clarke, Head of Housing 28 April 2021 

Approved by: Andrew Cotton, Director for Housing and Property 21 June 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property 

30 June 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. That Cabinet: 

a) notes the content of the report in relation to the management of complaints, 
compliments, and comments in respect of the Council’s role as a social 
landlord. 

b) Approves the proposed Housing Customer Feedback Policy; and 

c) Delegates to the Director of Housing and Property authority to make minor 
changes to the Policy as required by changes to legislation or regulation. 

93

Agenda Item 8a

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Social Housing White Paper (The Charter for Social Housing Residents), published 

on 17 November 2020, sets out how the Government will work with the Regulator for 

Social Housing in strengthening the formal standards against which landlords are 

regulated.  The new Charter sets out what every social housing resident should be able to 

expect.  One of the key aspects of the Charter is for residents to have their complaints 

dealt with promptly and fairly. 

1.2 In conjunction with the Social Housing White Paper, the Housing Ombudsman have 

introduced a new Complaint Handling Code, published in July 2020.  It is a requirement 

and not best practice to handle complaints in accordance with this code.  Social housing 

landlords were required to self-assess against this code by 31 December 2020.  Non-

compliance could have resulted in the Ombudsman issuing Complaint Handling Failure 

Orders.  South Kesteven District Council has already completed this self-assessment, 

which has been published on the Council’s website. As a result of this self-assessment, an 

action plan has been drawn up with recommended actions for improvement (Appendix 1). 

1.3 The Council’s Housing Services is a member of the Housing Ombudsman Scheme and 

complies with the Housing Ombudsman Complaints Handling Code and any findings or 

recommendations they make.   

1.4 The Social Housing White Paper also sets out how the Government will do more to ensure 

residents know how to raise complaints and will be launching a communications 

campaign.  It also expects all social housing landlords, along with the Housing 

Ombudsman, to ensure residents have clear and up to date information on how to 

complain. 

1.5 The proposed Housing Customer Feedback Policy (Appendix 2) sets out how South 

Kesteven District Council’s Housing Services will deal with customer feedback in the form 

of complaints, compliments, or comments.  The Housing Service received 68 complaints 

during the financial year 2020 – 2021.  This is a similar number to the previous year (2019 

– 2020), where we received 69 complaints.   

1.6 The Council values compliments, and service users taking the time to express their 

gratitude are thanked and the feedback is passed on to Officers and/or contractors 

involved.  For example, a recent letter from sheltered housing scheme residents in 

Bourne, (Appendix 4) was circulated to all staff involved. 

1.7 The aims of the Complaints Handling Code are to provide a framework which promotes 

high-quality complaint handling with a faster resolution of complaints, using learning from 

complaints to drive service improvements and to be prescriptive only where it matters 

most.  It is not intended to be a means by which to punish, but to promote better practice 

for all by creating a positive complaint handling culture, taking action to put things right 

and appropriate remedies to be in place.  The Code requires greater access, consistency 

and fairness in customers being able to make complaints and the handling of them.   

1.8 The Complaints Handling Code promotes a resident focussed process on handling 

complaints and a procedure which has only two stages, rather than three, and has clear 

time frames for responses.  Continuous learning and improvement in handling complaints 

must be demonstrated with evidence in an Annual Report. 

1.9 The new Housing Ombudsman Scheme, as part of the Social Housing White Paper, has 

introduced a new power to carry out a wider investigation where there is evidence of ‘a 

94



 

 
 

systemic failing’, with an expectation that landlords will deal with complaints in line with 

both the Scheme and the Complaint Handling Code.  The scheme includes a new power 

enabling the Housing Ombudsman to issue a Complaint Handling Failure Order for non-

compliance with the Scheme or Code. 

1.10 Conditions of membership of the Housing Ombudsman Scheme are set out in Appendix 3. 

1.11 A Complaint Handling Failure Order for non-compliance with the Scheme or Code, could 

be issued by the Housing Ombudsman for various reasons, as set out in Appendix 3.  

1.12 The Social Housing White Paper states how the Government has set out (via the Building 

Safety Bill) the intention to remove the need for residents to go to a ‘designated person’ 

(local Councillor or MP) or wait 8 weeks before a customer can approach the Housing 

Ombudsman with a complaint (removing the democratic filter).  The White Paper also 

states how Government has increased the Housing Ombudsman’s powers to take action 

against landlords where needed.   

1.13 However, the Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code states that the 8 week wait 

has to be observed before someone can directly refer their complaint to the Housing 

Ombudsman, or via a Delegated Person (which can be their local Councillor or MP) within 

8 weeks of the final decision made by the Council on their complaint.  The policy currently 

reflects the requirements of the Complaint Handling Code.  The policy will need to be 

updated, if the intended changes of the White Paper are implemented. 

1.14 The Government will support improved complaint handling by landlords and hold them to 

account through stronger powers and action via the Housing Ombudsman Service; 

strengthen the relationship between the Regulator of Social Housing and the Housing 

Ombudsman; require the Housing Ombudsman to publish decisions and landlord reports 

from March 2021; and run an awareness campaign so residents know their rights and how 

to complain. 

1.15 The Council’s proposed Housing Customer Feedback Policy sets out how the Housing 

Ombudsman defines a complaint; how to complain; who can complain; how we deal with 

complaints (both informal and formal complaints); the complaints process (stage one and 

stage two); referring a complaint to a Designated Person (a local Councillor or MP); what 

the Housing Ombudsman Service is; monitoring and learning from complaints and the 

complaints process (shown in the flowchart at Appendix 1 of the policy). 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Housing Ombudsman requires these changes to be made, as they are legislative and 

therefore, consultation is not needed for this policy.  This has been discussed with the 

officer leading on the Corporate Customer Feedback Policy and consultation will not be 

undertaken on that for the same reason that the changes required are legislative. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Given the clear guidance given by the Housing Ombudsman, then options are limited in 

terms of the policy and process the Council adopts.  Clearly, meeting the requirements of 

the Complaint Handling Code is appropriate for the Council.   

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 Not applicable 

 

95



 

 
 

 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 To comply with the Social Housing White Paper and the Housing Ombudsman Complaints 

Handling Code. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Subject to review and scrutiny by the Rural and Communities and Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and approval by Cabinet, the policy will be implemented, following the 

expiration of the call in period.  It is intended to be publicised via our website, residents’ 

newsletters and any other communications with our customers (for example, enquiries and 

applications for housing advice and assistance; tenancy agreement sign ups; meetings 

with customers and at Sheltered Housing schemes). 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 It has been confirmed that the financial resources required to implement this policy will be 

met from within existing budgets. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The report indicates proposed changes to legislation - The Social Housing White Paper 

(The Charter for Social Housing Residents).  In conjunction with this White Paper, the 

Housing Ombudsman introduced a new Complaint Handling Code.  It is a requirement and 

not best practice to handle complaints in accordance with this Code.  The proposed policy 

sets out how the Council will deal with customer feedback in accordance with legislation.   

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 We will support customers in submitting feedback, where requested, to ensure no one is 

unable to provide feedback (e.g. due to language or disability issues). We will monitor all 

feedback to ensure our approach is fair and accessible to all customers.  An Equalities 

and Impact Assessment will be undertaken prior to the policy being heard at Cabinet.    

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No risks identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 No community safety implications identified. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Carbon neutral (no carbon impact)  

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None identified. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 No background papers as this is a new policy. 

96



 

 
 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Complaint Handling Code Self-Assessment Action Plan  

15.2 Appendix 2 – Housing Customer Feedback Policy 

15.3 Appendix 3 – Housing Ombudsman Scheme Membership Conditions and reasons for 

issuing a Complaint Handling Failure Order 

15.4 Appendix 4 – Compliment letter received from residents at a sheltered housing scheme in 

Bourne 

15.5 Appendix 5 – Equality Impact Assessment 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

19 April 2021 

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

1 July 2021 

Final Decision date   13 July 2021 

 

97



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 
 

 Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code 
South Kesteven Housing Services Self-Assessment Form 2021 

 

 

Compliance with the Complaint Handling Code 

 
South Kesteven District Council’s Housing Service is committed to being compliant with the Housing Ombudsman Complaint 
Handling Code.  

Why are we doing this 

The Housing Ombudsman Service looks at complaints about housing services that have been reported to them.  
All social landlords are registered with the Housing Ombudsman.  
Any tenant has the right to complain to their landlord about the service they have received.  
If they are not satisfied with the response given to their complaint, they have the right to report it to the Housing Ombudsman 
who will investigate it with the landlord on the tenant’s behalf.  

The Housing Ombudsman has introduced a new Complaint Handling Code that sets out good practice and standards that we 
should meet to enable tenants to make a complaint to us. 

Part of this is to review our current procedure for dealing with complaints and how we will ensure we meet the requirements of 
this new code. We are required to do this by carrying out a self-assessment that tells people how we currently meet this code 
and the actions we will take to make us complainant where we are not.  

This is the first of regular self-assessments that we will carry out to ensure we continue to meet the requirements this code and 
deal with complaints in line with our procedure and standards. 

 

99



2 
 

Where it is necessary or we believe it will provide an improved service, we will change our procedure each time we carry out 
this self-assessment.  

 Question How we currently comply 
 

Action required to 
ensure compliance 

Progress 

  

1 Definition of a complaint 
 

 

1.1 Does the complaints process use the 
following definition of a complaint?  
 
An expression of dissatisfaction, however 
made, about the standard of service, 
actions, or lack of action by the 
organisation, its own staff, or those acting 
on its behalf, affecting an individual 
resident or group of residents.  
 

Yes 
 
 
“a standard of service,  
a failure to meet your expectations,  
an action or a lack of action or because you 
found it difficult to access our services – 
anything which you feel is unacceptable” 

We will review our 
definition to match 
that of the Housing 
Ombudsman. 

Included in 
new policy 

1.2 Does the policy have exclusions where a 
complaint will not be considered? 
 

Yes   Included in 
new policy 

1.3 Are these exclusions reasonable and fair to 
residents? 
Evidence relied upon. 
 
 

Yes –  
Our procedure sets out reasons as  
‘Where the report is an initial request for 
service or where a statutory appeals process is 
available.’  

None Required. Complete 

 
 
 
 

 

100



3 
 

 

2 Accessibility  

2.1 Are multiple accessibility routes available 
for residents to make a complaint? 

Yes – written, phone, online, email, verbal, in 
person. 

We will ensure this is 
made clearer on the 
SKDC website and in 
leaflets and posters.  
 

Action: To 
have 
information 
more 
prominent on 
website 

2.2 Is the complaints policy and procedure 
available online? 
 

Yes  We will place this 
Council’s website 
under housing pages. 
southkesteven.gov.uk/
housingsupport 
 

Action: Policy 
and summary 
of procedure 
to go on once 
approved 

2.3 Do we have a reasonable adjustments 
policy? 

Yes We will clarify in the 
procedure how we 
address anything that 
may prevent a tenant 
making a complaint. 
 

Included in 
new policy 

2.4 Do we regularly advise residents about our 
complaints process? 

Yes The process is online, 
and we explain to 
tenants how they can 
complain in our 
newsletter and letters 
where appropriate. 
 

Ongoing via 
skyline and 
advice to 
tenants.  

  

3 Complaints team and process 
 

 

101



4 
 

3.1 Is there a complaint officer or equivalent in 
post? 

Yes – Our customer services team are the first 
point of contact for complaints to be received 
and recorded. The Director of Housing and 
Service Managers are responsible for ensuing 
complaints are resolved. 

Complaints are dealt 
with by service 
managers and team 
leaders. We will ensure 
clear contacts are 
provided.  
 
Complaints will be 
coordinated by an 
officer designated as 
the Housing 
Complaints Handler. 
 

Complaints 
Handling 
coordinator in 
place and 
reporting 
procedures 
set up via 
monthly 
report and 
quarterly 
report.  

3.2 Does the complaint officer have autonomy 
to resolve complaints? 

Yes The above contacts can 
resolve low level and 
Stage 1 complaints. 
Stage 2 complaints will 
be dealt with by a 
senior manager.  
 

Complaints 
can be 
resolved by 
the officer 
dealing with 
it. 

3.3 Does the complaint officer have authority 
to compel engagement from other 
departments to resolve disputes? 
 

Yes Complaints are dealt 
with across other 
departments where 
necessary.  
 

Coordinated 
via housing 

3.4 If there is a third stage to the complaints 
procedure are residents involved in the 
decision making? 

The corporate procedure includes a third 
stage that is dealt with by a Director. The 
complainant is involved in the final decision 
part this stage. 
 

The new housing 
complaints policy will 
consist of two stages. 
 

Included in 
new policy 

102



5 
 

3.5 Is any third stage optional for residents?  The corporate policy allows for a third stage. The new housing 
complaints policy is a 
two-stage process. On 
completion of this the 
complainant is advised 
on how to take their 
complaint to either the 
designated person or 
Ombudsman stage. 
 

Included in 
the new 
policy.  
Designated 
Person or 
ombudsman 
option.  

3.6 Does the final stage response set out the 
residents’ right to refer the matter to the 
Housing Ombudsman Service? 
 

Yes None required. Included on 
letters sent 

3.7 Do we keep a record of complaint 
correspondence including correspondence 
from the resident? 
 

Yes – all records relating to a complaint are 
recorded on our customer management 
system. 

A case file is opened 
and maintained for 
each complaint or 
feedback. 
 

In place. 

3.8 At what stage are most complaints 
resolved? 
 

Stage 1 None Required. No action 
required. 

 Communication  

4.1 Are residents kept informed and updated 
during the complaints process? 

Partial – tenants are informed of the final 
response at Stage 1 but are kept informed 
before this throughout further stages. 

Complainants will be 
contacted at Stage 1 
and kept informed of 
progress throughout 
the complaint.  
 

Being put in 
place. 
Coordinator 
will contact 
complainant 

103



6 
 

in 1st 
instance. 
 

4.2 Are residents informed of the landlord’s 
position and given a chance to respond and 
challenge any area of dispute before the 
final decision? 
 

Partial – we discuss the proposed final 
response with the complainant at Stage 2 and 
Stage 3. 

The new process offers 
the opportunity to 
discuss the decision 
before it is made final 
at both stages. 
 

Included in 
new policy 

4.3 Are all complaints acknowledged and 
logged within five days? 
 

Yes None required. Done via 
civica. 

4.4 Are residents advised of how to escalate at 
the end of each stage? 
 

Yes None required. Included with 
response. 

4.5 What proportion of complaints are 
resolved at Stage 1? 
 

98% (based on complaint made over the last 
18 months). 

None required. Monitored 
ongoing. 

4.6 What proportion of complaints are 
resolved at Stage 2? 
 

90% (based on those that were escalated to 
stage 3). 

None required. Monitored 
ongoing 

4.7 What proportion of complaint responses 
are sent within Code timescales? 
 

• Stage 1 
Stage 1 (with extension) 

• Stage 2 
Stage 2 (with extension) 

 

 
 
 
75% 
Not collected 
90% 
Not collected 

We will review the 
reasons why a 
complaint may not be 
resolved within the 
timescale. 

Monitored 
ongoing.  

104



7 
 

4.8 Where timescales have been extended did 
we have good reason? 
 

Yes None required. Included in 
new policy 

4.9 Where timescales have been extended did 
we keep the resident informed? 

Yes – We explain that a case may take longer 
than the given timescale to resolve.  

We will inform the 
complainant of any 
delay at all stages and 
the reasons why. 
 

Included in 
new policy 

4.10 What proportion of complaints do we 
resolve to residents’ satisfaction 

We do not collect this at the moment but less 
then 10% of complaints are escalated further. 

We will conduct 
satisfaction feedback 
with complainants at 
the conclusion of their 
complaint. 
 

To be started.  

  

5 Cooperation with Housing Ombudsman Service 
 

 

5.1 Were all requests for evidence responded 
to within 15 days? 
 

Yes None required. Timescales 
met.  

5.2 Where the timescale was extended, did we 
keep the Ombudsman informed? 
 

Yes – where we have to extend the timescale, 
we will tell them. 

None required. We will where 
required. 

  

6 Fairness in complaint handling 
 

 

6.1 Are residents able to complain via a 
representative throughout? 
 

Yes None required. Included in 
new policy 

105



8 
 

6.2 If advice was given, was this accurate and 
easy to understand?  
 

Yes We will introduce 
templates to ensure 
this is consistent. 

Template 
complaint 
response done 
 

6.3 How many cases did we refuse to escalate?  
What was the reason for the refusal? 
 

None – we escalate to next stage if requested. None required. Included in 
new policy 

6.4 Did we explain our decision to the 
resident? 
 

Yes None required. Would be part 
of response 

  

7 Outcomes and remedies 
 

 

7.1 Where something has gone wrong, are we 
taking appropriate steps to put things 
right? 

Yes We have introduced a 
new reporting form 
that captures 
outcomes and lessons 
learned, and what we 
have done regarding 
this. 
 

Report is 
completed on 
civica at 
closure of 
complaint.  

  

8 Continuous learning and improvement  
 

 

8.1 What improvements have we made as a 
result of learning from complaints? 
 

Improved training and procedures where 
required. 

As above, we will 
record these to ensure 
we are able to monitor 
them.  

As above 

8.2 How do we share these lessons with? 
 

 
 

  
 

Corporate 
report is made 

106



9 
 

a) Residents? 
 
 
 

b) The board/governing body? 
 

 
 

c) In the Annual Report? 
 
 

We explain to the complainant in our 
response. 
 
 
Corporate report. 
 
 
 
On a corporate level. 

We will provide regular 
reports in our 
newsletters and on our 
website as part of an 
improved reporting 
process on complaints. 
 
Complaints handling 
performance is 
reported to the 
corporate 
management and 
housing performance 
on complaints handling 
is part of the quarterly 
reports presented to 
management.  

to senior 
management 
team. We will 
include 
information in 
skyline.  

8.3 Has the Code made a difference to how we 
respond to complaints? 

Yes - We are reviewing how we handle 
complaints within the Housing Service. 
 
We will also adapt the Ombudsman complaint 
letter template to ensure consistency and 
clear responses. 
 

We have introduced a 
new procedure for 
housing complaints to 
help officers resolve 
complaints. 
 
 

New policy 
and reporting 
processes. 

8.4 What changes have we made?  We maintain a monitoring spreadsheet for all 
complaints and have introduced a new 
complaint recording form to ensure we learn 
from them.  
 

We will review our 
complaint handling 
process and improve it 
where necessary.  
 

Ongoing as 
part of new 
policy 

107



10 
 

A Complaints Handling Officer has been 
designated to ensure a more coordinated 
approach to complaints. 
  

We collate and report 
on performance 
handling as part of an 
internal report. 
 
We will conduct 
feedback surveys to 
capture satisfaction at 
how we handle 
complaints. 

 

 

 

 108



APPENDIX 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Housing Customer Feedback Policy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Date February 21 Version 1 
Author Ken Linford Contact k.linford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Title/Service Community Engagement Officer Housing Services 
Date for review   

109

mailto:k.linford@southkesteven.gov.uk


1. Introduction 
 

1.1. This Housing Customer Feedback Policy sets out how Housing Services 
deals with customer feedback in the form of complaints, compliments, or 
comments.  South Kesteven District Council Housing Services is a member 
of the Housing Ombudsman Scheme and complies with the Ombudsman 
Complaints Handling Code and any findings or recommendations they make. 

 
1.2. The term ‘customer’ includes those living in any of our council housing 

properties, leaseholders, shared owners, applicants for housing and any 
person or organisation to who we provide a housing service or have a legal 
or contractual obligation.    

 
2. Complaints, Compliments and Comments 

 
2.1. We term customer feedback as covering complaints (i.e. dissatisfaction with 

our service), compliments (i.e. satisfaction with our service) and comments 
(i.e. general feedback on our service).   
 

 
3. Legal framework 

 
3.1. This policy meets the Regulator for Social Housing requirement for an 

approach for dealing with complaints that is accessible, clear, and 
transparent.  In doing so it complies with the key requirements of the: 

• Localism Act 2011 

• Section 2 of the Housing Act 1996 

• The Regulator for Social Housing Regulatory Framework 

• The Housing Ombudsman Service 

• Data Protection Act 2018 & GDPR 

• Equality Act 2010 
 

 
4. Equality statement 

 
4.1. We are committed to promoting equality and ensuring customers and 

employees are treated fairly. We will support customers in submitting 
feedback, where requested, to ensure no one is unable to provide feedback 
(e.g. due to language or disability issues). We will monitor all feedback to 
ensure our approach is fair and accessible to all customers. 

 
4.2. Where a complainant is unable to make the complaint themselves, we will 

accept complaints from a representative and address the complaint through 
them, providing we have the complainant’s permission to do so and in line 
with the data protection requirements.   

 
5. Confidentiality 

 
5.1. All information will be collected and stored and managed in accordance with 

the General Data Protection Regulations and Data Protection Act 2018. 

110



 
5.2. Details of a complaint will only be provided to employees of South Kesteven 

District Council and appropriate representatives in order to provide a 
response to the complainant’s feedback. 

 
 

6. What is a complaint 
  

6.1. The Housing Ombudsman defines a complaint as: 

 
6.2. “An expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about the standard of 

service, actions or lack of action by the organisation, its own staff, or 
those acting on its behalf, affecting an individual resident or group of 
residents.” 

 
6.3. This includes dissatisfaction with: 

• The quality of service offered, or work carried out 

• The action or lack of action carried out while carrying out a service 

• The attitude or behaviour of those providing a service or doing work 

• Missed appointments 

• Failure to comply with policies, procedures, or service standards 

• Failure to provide information when requested that a complainant has a 
right to 

• A decision we have made or delayed in making 

• Failure to respond to a previous complaint 
 

 
7. What is not a complaint 

 
7.1. There are a number of reasons why we may determine feedback does not 

come under this policy.  Where this is the case, we will inform the 

complainant and explain our reasons for this.  The most frequent reasons for 

this are where the complaint is: 

 

• An initial request for a service or work to carried out (this is a service 
request and will be dealt with through our service delivery.  Examples 
include reporting a neighbour dispute or asking for a repair to be carried 
out). 

• An appeal of a housing decision made regarding offers of accommodation 
or priority on the housing register, housing applications (these are classed 
as reviews). 

• A dispute relating to rents or service charges. 

• An appeal against decisions or services where there is another appeal 
process (such as disrepair) or where there are alternative statutory appeal 
or tribunal processes (such as appeals against statutory notices). 

• A complaint from people who do not use our service or relating to a 
service we do not provide – these will be decided on an individual basis. 

• A complaint about something that has occurred 6 months ago and not 
previously reported to us. 

111



• Where legal proceedings are pending. 

• Where an insurance claim has been made against us. 

• Where a complaint has been made and closed previously under our 
complaints process. 

• Where it is feedback from a consultation or survey we have sent as part of 

a consultation or feedback. 

• There may be other reasons why we do not treat feedback as a complaint. 

 
8. How to complain 

 
8.1. Complaints should be made as early as possible after the cause for 

complaint has occurred. We will consider if complaints relating to matters six 
months or more after the cause of the complaint can be dealt with through 
this process on an individual basis.   It is important to provide as much 
information about the reason for a complaint, and the outcome a complainant 
would like to receive. 

 
8.2. A complaint can be made using any of the following methods: 

 

• Filling in the online form on the SKDC website at Complaints, compliments 
and comments  

• Emailing Customer Services at C.Service@southkesteven.gov.uk  

• By calling Customer Services on 01476 406080 

• In writing to: 
The Customer Services Team 
South Kesteven District Council 
Council Offices 
St Peters Hill  
Grantham  
Lincs 
NG31 6PZ 

• In person at one our Customer Service Offices  

• Direct to a Council officer 

• Via the Council’s Facebook page at https://m.facebook.com/southkdc 
(complaints made via social media will be dealt with the same way as 
other complaints, and we will make sure we are speaking to the 
complainant and discuss the complaint directly with them rather than 
through social media.  As social media pages are visible to the public, 
private or personal information, including information relating to others, 
will not be posted on these sites). 

 
 

9. Who can complain? 

 

9.1. We accept complaints from anyone who is affected by our housing or related 
services, including repairs, improvement works and grounds maintenance, 
including those who carry out work on our behalf such as contractors.  

112

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8599
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8599
mailto:C.Service@southkesteven.gov.uk


Complaints made about non housing related issues will be forwarded to the 
relevant department.  

  
9.2. Complaints may be made by tenants or members of their household, 

neighbours of our tenants or those applying to us for housing.  Complaints 
may also be made by representatives on behalf of the above, but we would 
need permission to deal with them on a complainant’s behalf.  

 
9.3. Complaints submitted by Councillors and MPs on behalf of a constituent, or 

made to the chief executive or a director, will be treated as a new complaint 
and dealt with through the complaint process. Should this relate to an existing 
complaint, the two complaints will be dealt as one and the Councillor or MP 
kept updated.  In such cases, we will respond to both the complainant and 
Councillor or MP.   

 
9.4. Where a complaint is made by a representative of the complainant, including 

a Councillor or MP, and is not linked to an existing complaint made by the 
complainant, we will respond to the representative only.  

 
9.5. Anonymous complaints will be followed up, but we may not be able to 

respond to these due to insufficient information. 
 
 

10. How we deal with complaints 
 

10.1. Informal Complaints  
We understand some complaints can be dealt with quickly and informally at 
the ‘initial point of contact’.  We will explain if this can be dealt with as an 
informal complaint and provide a response within two working days of the 
complaint being received by the housing team.  If a complainant is unsatisfied 
with this response, or does not wish to have a complaint dealt with as an 
informal complaint, it can be dealt with as a formal complaint. 

 
10.2.  Formal Complaints  

Where we cannot deal with a complaint informally, we will explain this and           
treat it as a formal complaint. Formal complaints are dealt with through a two 
stage process as explained below. 

 
10.3. All complaints are logged onto our complaints managing system and where it 

is a formal complaint an acknowledgment will be sent to the complainant 

within three working days.   

 

11. Closing a Complaint 

 
We will close a complaint: 

• when we have completed our investigation and sent a response there is 
no further response from the complainant within 20 working days of the 
response being sent at either Stage 1 or Stage 2.  

• When the complainant has told us they do not wish to take it any further 

113



• When a resolution has been agreed between the complainant and the 
Council.  If we fail to do as we say we would, the complaint can be 
reopened at the stage at which it was closed and continue as a complaint. 

• The matter is part of a legal ruling or in litigation 

• We have explained there is nothing more we can do to resolve the matters 

• The complainant acts in an unreasonable manner in their demands or 

refuses to cooperate with us in resolving the matter 

 

11.2  We will inform the complaint being closed and our reasons for this.   The 

complaint may be reopened if there is sufficient reason such as new 

information relating to the initial complaint.  

 

 
12. Complaints Process 

 

12.1. The complaint process consists of two stages, after which the complaint is 
considered to have been dealt with through our complaint process.  Formal 
complaints will be acknowledged within three working days. 

 
13. Stage 1 – Initial resolution.   
13.1. The complaint will be assigned to a ‘lead officer’ within the housing service 

who will investigate the complaint and provide a ‘Stage 1 response’ within 10 
working days of the complaint being submitted.  Where a complaint relates 
to more than one service area, the lead officer will coordinate the 
investigation across these areas and provide the final response.   

 
13.2. Where we are unable to respond within 10 working days, the lead officer will 

contact the complainant and explain why and give a new date by which a 
response will be given. This must be no more than a further 10 working days 
from when they contact the complainant. 

 
13.3. When the response at Stage 1 is sent, the complaint will be moved to 

pending for 30 days, at which point it will close, unless the complainant has 
asked for it to be reviewed at Stage 2.   

 
 

14. Escalation of Complaint 
14.1. If the complainant would like the response to be reviewed at Stage 2, they 

should tell us within 20 working days of receiving the response. If they make 
this request outside of the 20 days, we may choose not to escalate it to stage 
2.  

 
 

15. Stage Two of the Complaints Process 
 

15.1. Stage 2 – Review stage 1 response.   
15.2. If the complainant is not satisfied with the Stage 1 response, they may ask for 

the response to be reviewed at Stage 2.  The request should include details 

114



of why they feel the response has not addressed their complaint and what 
outcome they would want from this review. 

 
15.3. Stage 2 reviews are carried out by a senior manager.  We will acknowledge 

the request and inform the complainant that it is being dealt with at Stage 2 

within 3 working days. The request will be assigned to a senior manager 

who will review the response and may contact the complainant for further 

information.  We will respond within 20 working days.   

 

15.4. Where we are unable to provide a response within this time, we will contact 
the complainant to explain why and set a new date for a response to be 
made no later than a further 10 working days. 

 
15.5. The stage 2 response will explain the outcome of the review and any further 

actions that may be agreed.  Stage 2 is the final stage in our complaints 
process and the response will explain the options if the complainant is still not 
satisfied with our response. 

 
 

16. Escalation after stage 2 
 

16.1. If the complainant remains unsatisfied with our response after Stage 2, or if 
we have refused to escalate the complaint following stage 1, they have the 
right to refer their complaint to a ‘Designated Person’ or to the ‘Housing 
Ombudsman’.  These are explained below. 

 
 

17. Designated Persons 
 

17.1. The Localism Act 2011 introduced the option to take complaints to a 

‘Designated Person/Panel’. In South Kesteven, designated persons are local 

district councillors or local MPs.  A complainant may involve these at any time 

during a complaint as a representative on behalf of a complainant or at the 

completion of stage 2 in their role as a Designated Person.   

 

17.2. The role of a designated person is to help resolve the complaint by acting as 
a ‘critical friend’ by providing advice and advocating on a complainant’s 
behalf. They can recommend a change in the decision but cannot insist on a 
decision being changed. If they feel they are unable to resolve the issue, they 
may refer the complaint to the housing ombudsman with the complainant’s 
agreement.  

 
17.3. Someone can find out who their local councillor is by searching the SKDC 

website by going to Home/Your Council and democracy/Councillors or at:  
 http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8443#councillors/all 

 
17.4. Local MPs can be found at: https://members.parliament.uk/constituencies/  

 
 

115

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8443#councillors/all
https://members.parliament.uk/constituencies/


18. Housing Ombudsman 
 

18.1. The Housing Ombudsman Service acts as an independent body to support 
tenants in making a complaint to their landlord by providing advice.  A 
complainant can contact the Ombudsman at any time during the complaint 
for advice, but they will not deal with the complaint until the Council’s formal 
complaint procedure has been exhausted.  They will inform the Council of the 
complaint and ask us to address it through this complaints process. The 
complainant also has the right to contact the Ombudsman if we have not 
responded to it in the time we gave, and we have not contacted the 
complainant beforehand regarding any delay.   

 
18.2. If the complainant is not satisfied with the Council’s final stage 2 response, 

they have the right to refer the complaint to the Ombudsman but must wait 8 
weeks after receiving the final response before this can be done. 

 
18.3. The Ombudsman will contact the Council for further information on the 

complaint and review the response and how it was managed.  Once they 
have completed their review, they will write to both the Complainant and the 
Council with their response.  We will comply with their determinations and act 
in line with any recommendations they make. 

 
18.4. The Ombudsman decisions are final and there is no right of appeal. 

 
18.5. The Housing Ombudsman can be contacted at: 

Housing Ombudsman Service 
PO Box 152 
Liverpool L33 7WQ 
0300 111 3000 
info@housing-ombudsman.org.uk 

 
Further information on the Housing Ombudsman can be found at: 
https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk 

 
 

19. Unreasonable behaviour/complaints 
 

19.1. We acknowledge that submitting a complaint can be a cause of stress and 
frustration.  However, where complainants act in an unreasonable manner we 
will consider our approach accordingly.  Where we take such action, we will 
inform the complainant and explain how they can access our services under 
the restrictions placed on them. 

 
19.2. Action we may take includes: 

• Refusing to take the complaint further until the behaviour stops 

• Restricting contact to a named officer and by a specified means 

• Dealing with the issue outside of the complaints process 
 

19.3. The circumstances in which we will consider such action are: 

116

mailto:info@housing-ombudsman.org.uk
https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/


• Unreasonable behaviour – Aggressive or abusive language or behaviour is 
not acceptable.  This includes threatening statements, derogatory remarks 
or making allegations.  

• Unreasonable demands – This includes where the complainant makes 
unreasonable demands on officers regarding levels of contact or 
responses, insisting on contact with specific officers only without good 
reason, raising unrelated issues or changing the complaint without reason. 

• Unreasonable persistence – This includes refusal to accept the decision 
made regarding the complaint when there are no further actions that can 
be taken, refusing to accept our explanations regarding expectations, or 
continuing to complain without any evidence or reason.   

 
19.4. Action will only be taken regarding the above issues where attempts to 

address the complaint through the complaints process have been 
unsuccessful and the behaviour persists after the complainant has been 
informed of their unreasonableness.  

 
 

20. Monitoring and Learning from complaints 
 

20.1. Complaints are important to us as they help us identify where we may be 
able to improve and change how we deliver our services.  We will record all 
complaints and monitor them in terms of their subject and how we dealt with 
them.  We will use this information to help us learn from complaints and 
improve service delivery.  We will also ask complainants for their feedback on 
how we handled their complaint and use this to help us improve our 
complaints process. 

 
20.2. We will report on this through the Corporate Management Team and relevant 

committees, and to our tenants through our website and the tenant’s 
newsletter.   

 
 

21. Where this policy can be found 
 

21.1. This policy will be made available on our website and copies will be placed in 
our customer services centres.  Copies will also be placed in our sheltered 
housing schemes.  Information on how to complain will be part of the tenant’s 
handbook and will be featured in our tenant’s newsletter.  

  

117



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Complaints Process 

Feedback received 

Report to relevant team 

as a report for action to 

follow up on 

Is it a valid housing 

complaint? Can it be resolved quickly? 

Record actions taken 

to resolve 

Inform complainant 

of actions taken 

Treat as 1st stage 

complaint 

Go to Stage 2  

Follow 2nd 

stage process 

Follow 1st stage process 

Is complainant satisfied with response 

Close case as complaint 

Designated Persons or Ombudsman Process 

What lessons have been learnt from this 

Treat as action 

required and follow 

relevant procedure 

Is complainant satisfied with response 

All complaints must be logged onto civica and assigned to the relevant officer to deal with initially. Notes 

must be kept at each stage and copies of all communications saved on civica. 

Y

e

Y

e

Y

e

N

e

N

e

N

N

e

Y

Y

e

Y

e

Y

e

s  

118



APPENDIX 3 
 

Conditions of membership of the Housing Ombudsman Scheme are that we: 

- must agree to be bound by the terms of the Scheme; 

- establish and maintain a complaints procedure in accordance with any 

good practice recommended by the Ombudsman; 

- inform residents of their right to bring complaints to the Ombudsman; 

- publish our complaints procedure and make information about it easily 

accessible on our website and in correspondence with residents; 

- manage complaints in accordance with our published procedure or, 

where this is not possible, within a reasonable timescale; and; 

- provide information to the Ombudsman within a reasonable timescale. 

 

A Complaint Handling Failure Order for non-compliance with the Scheme or Code,  

could be issued by the Housing Ombudsman for:  

- failure to accept a complaint in a timely manner, or exclude without good 

reason;   

- an inaccessible complaints procedure, or not managing complaints in 

accordance with the complaints policy; 

- failure to progress a complaint through the procedure or respond within 

timescales without good reason; 

- failure to notify a resident of their right to refer the complaint to the 

Housing Ombudsman; 

- failure to provide evidence to support an investigation by the Housing 

Ombudsman. 

 

119



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

121

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5 

1 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Housing Customer Feedback 
Policy 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
 
Housing Services 

Lead officer:  
Ken Linford 
  

Date of Meeting  
 
30/06/21 

Assessors: 
Celia Bown 
 
 

Neutral Assessor: 
Mel Cummings 
 

123



Appendix 5 

2 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

Housing Customer Feedback Policy 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  New  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive, or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative. 
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic, 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Positive 
 
The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. 
 
The policy is designed to make 
contact easier and provides a 
clear process to be followed.  It 
will not negatively differentiate 
people based on protected 
characteristics such as age. 
 
Customer feedback can be 
made via various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person or by someone else 
with the customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
all age groups to access us. 
In reviewing all feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 

The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
all age groups to access us. 

124



Appendix 5 

3 

 

Disability 
 

 

Positive 
 
The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. 
 
The policy is designed to make 
contact easier and provides a 
clear process to be followed.  It 
will not negatively differentiate 
people based on protected 
characteristics such as 
disability. 
 
Customer feedback can be 
made via various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person or by someone else 
with the customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
all age groups to access us. 
In reviewing all feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 

The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone with a disability to 
access us. 

Race 
 

Positive 
 
The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. 
 
The policy is designed to make 
contact easier and provides a 
clear process to be followed.  It 
will not negatively differentiate 
people based on protected 
characteristics such as race. 
 
Customer feedback can be 
made via various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person or by someone else 
with the customer’s 
permission. 
 

The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 

125



Appendix 5 

4 

 

How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
all age groups to access us. 
In reviewing all feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 

else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of race, to 
access us. 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Positive 
 
The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of gender 
or gender reassignment, to 
access us. 

The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of gender 
or gender reassignment, to 
access us. 

Religion or 
Belief   

Positive 
 
The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 

The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 

126



Appendix 5 

5 

 

The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of religion 
or belief, to access us. 

to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of religion 
or belief, to access us. 

Sex 
 
 
   

Positive 
 
The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of 
someone’s sex, to access us. 

The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of 
someone’s sex, to access us. 

127



Appendix 5 

6 

 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Positive 
 
The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of 
someone’s sexual orientation, 
to access us. 

The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of 
someone’s sexual orientation, 
to access us. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Positive 
 
The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 

The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 

128



Appendix 5 

7 

 

online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of whether 
someone is pregnant or on 
maternity leave, to access us. 

can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of whether 
someone is pregnant or on 
maternity leave, to access us. 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Positive 
 
The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of marital 
status or civil partnership, to 
access us. 

The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of marital 
status or civil partnership, to 
access us. 

Carers Positive 
 
The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 

The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 

129



Appendix 5 

8 

 

service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of 
someone’s caring 
responsibilities, to access us. 

 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of 
someone’s caring 
responsibilities, to access us. 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

Positive 
 
The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 

The policy and associated 
procedures, to be put in place, 
will address customer 
feedback and complaints. In 
response to this feedback, 
service improvements will be 
made, where required. 
 
The policy is designed to 
assist in making contact easier 
and provides a clear process 
to be followed.  It will not 
negatively differentiate people 
based on protected 
characteristics. Customer 
feedback can be made via 
various methods ie. 
online/email/letter/phone/in 
person.  Customer feedback 
can also be given by someone 
else with their customer’s 
permission. 
 
How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 

130



Appendix 5 

9 

 

How to ‘contact us’ information 
will be widely available via 
various methods allowing for 
anyone, regardless of any 
reason, eg. an offending 
history or the customer lives in 
a rural area, to access us. 

anyone, regardless of any 
reason, eg. an offending 
history or the customer lives in 
a rural area, to access us. 

General 
comments 

 

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

Based on previous feedback history and the Housing Ombudsman new 
requirements, the policy is to provide better engagement and will not 
negatively differentiate people, based on their protected characteristics.  
When a response to a customer’s feedback is made, we will consider any 
equality issue eg. communication required in different languages, eyesight 
issues, disability, preferred method of contact etc. 

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

We will be implementing a new customer satisfaction system and via 
equality monitoring forms, we will be assessing if there are any trends 
which could impact on equality. 

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

✓ 

   

131



Appendix 5 

10 

 

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 

132



Appendix 5 

11 

 

 
Signed (Lead Officer):    Ken Linford 
(Name and title)   Community Engagement Officer 
  

Date completed:  23/06/21  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Mel Cummings 
(Name and title)   Corporate Operations - Property 
 

Date signed off:     30/06/21  
 

133



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 15 June 2021
	4 Outturn Position Report 2020/21
	Appendix A - 2020-21 General Fund Revenue Summary
	Appendix B - 2020-21 General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis
	Appendix C - 2020-21 General Fund Capital Programme Summary
	Appendix D - 2020-21 Budget Carry Forwards General Fund
	Appendix E - 2020-21 Reserves - General Fund V2
	Appendix F - 2020-21 Housing Revenue Account Summary
	Appendix G - 2020-21 HRA Capital Programme Summary
	Appendix H - 2020-21 Budget Carry Forwards - HRA
	Appendix I - 2020-21 Reserves - HRA

	5 Choice Based Lettings Scheme Consultation
	Appendix 1a - CBL Survey - new tenants and HR applicants
	Choice Based Lettings 2021 - New tenants and Housing Register applicants
	Question Title
	1. Do you think the current approach we use to allocate properties gives applicants adequate choice?

	Question Title
	2. Do you think Choice Based Lettings will be a better and more transparent way to allocate our properties?

	Question Title
	3. Bidding will be done through an online step by step procedure.€ Do you have access to a computer/laptop/tablet/mobile phone and are able to use online services or would you require assistance to do this? Please tick all that apply.


	Choice Based Lettings 2021 - New tenants and Housing Register applicants
	Question Title
	4. When you applied to go on the housing register, do you think you€were given enough information?

	Question Title
	5. We currently have six bands: the ‘Emergency Band’ for households in the highest housing need and ‘Bands 1 – 5’, with ‘Band 5’ for those in the lowest housing need.     Do you think the current banding system is easy to understand?

	Question Title
	6. Would this kind of banding be easier to understand?

	Question Title
	7. Do you foresee any problems with this?€ Please comment:


	Choice Based Lettings 2021 - New tenants and Housing Register applicants
	Question Title
	8. Please tell us if you are a new tenant or an applicant on the Council's Housing Register. Please tick one only.

	Question Title
	9. Please tell us your postcode:

	Question Title
	10. Please tell us your gender:


	Choice Based Lettings 2021 - New tenants and Housing Register applicants
	Question Title
	11. Please tell us your age:

	Question Title
	12. Please tell us your ethnicity/nationality:

	Question Title
	13. Do you consider yourself to have a disability or long standing health issue?



	Appendix 1b - CBL Survey - support workers and advocates
	Choice Based Lettings 2021 - Support Workers and Advocates
	Question Title
	1. Do you think this€would be a better and more transparent way to allocate our properties?

	Question Title
	2. Do you think this kind of banding would€be easier to understand?


	Choice Based Lettings 2021 - Support Workers and Advocates
	Question Title
	3. Bidding will be an online step by step procedure.€ Can you support clients with this? Please tick one only.

	Question Title
	4. Do you have access to a phone, laptop or computer to assist and support people who could not bid online themselves?

	Question Title
	5. How do you currently support people with online services?


	Choice Based Lettings 2021 - Support Workers and Advocates
	Question Title
	6. Do you foresee any problems with this?€ Please comment:

	Question Title
	7. Any other comments

	Question Title
	8. Please supply your contact details



	Appendix 1c - CBL Survey - registered providers
	Appendix 1d - Questionnaire covering letter

	6 Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers
	Appendix 1 - Management of Commercial Assets NKD (Report)
	Appendix 2 - Management of Commercial Assets NKD (Decision Notice)

	7 Cabinet Forward Plan
	Appendix 1 - Forward Plan 1 July 2021 - 30 June 2022
	Plan


	8a Housing Customer Feedback Policy
	Appendix 1 - Complaint Handling Code Self-Assessment Action Plan
	Appendix 2 - Housing Customer Feedback Policy
	Appendix 3 - Housing Ombudsman Scheme Membership Conditions Complaint Handling Failure Order Reasons
	Appendix 4 - Compliment Letter
	Appendix 5 - Equality Impact Assessment




